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ACRONYMS

E-GP System		  Electronic Government Procurement System

GRNs			   Goods Received Notes

ICT			   Information Communication Technology 
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PPA			   Public Procurement Act

PPR 			   Public Procurement Regulations
	
PRA			   Price Reasonableness Analysis

PRs			   Purchase Requisitions
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1.	 VISION AND MISSION STATEMENTS AND CORE VALUES

VISION STATEMENT
To create a conducive public procurement environment that enhances the confidence

of stakeholders.

MISSION STATEMENT
To regulate public procurement in order to promote compliance and ensure value for money.

SHARED CORE VALUES

In regulating public procurement in Zambia, the Authority shall uphold its shared core values of fairness, 
accountability, integrity, mutual respect, transparency, confidentiality, professionalism and excellence. The 
meaning of the values is provided below:

Shared Core Values Interpretation

Fairness We shall endeavour to be impartial and treat all stakeholders the same without 
discrimination or favouritism.

Accountability We shall acknowledge responsibility and be accountable to stakeholders for our 
actions.

Integrity We shall be honest and maintain zero tolerance to corruption in our dealings with 
stakeholders and fulfilling our mandate.

Mutual respect We shall treat stakeholders with courtesy, politeness and kindness.

Transparency We shall endeavour to act in an open and predictable manner in our dealings with 
stakeholders.

Confidentiality We shall always safeguard confidential information.

Professionalism We shall demonstrate competence and ethical behaviour in the execution of our 
duties.

Excellence We shall endeavour to be outstanding in the execution of our duties.

2.	 CHAIRPERSON’S STATEMENT

On behalf of the Board of the Zambia Public Procurement Authority (ZPPA), it is my distinguished honour 
to present the 2021 Annual Report and audited Financial Statements for the year ended 31st December, 
2021.

Procuring entities procure goods, works and services in large quantities which result in very high 
expenditure. Therefore, the goods, works and services procured through the public procurement system if 
left unchecked, can be at exorbitant prices which can lead to loss of public funds. This is of great concern to 
Government. Therefore, in the year under review, the Government through ZPPA, implemented measures 
to strengthen the regulation of public procurement. In that regard, the Government operationalized the 
Public Procurement Act No. 8 of 2020 (PPA) in April 2021, which among other things, mandates ZPPA 
to publish the market price index (MPI) on a quarterly basis, to be used by a Controlling Officer, Chief 
Executive Officer and procuring entities (PEs) for purposes of an informed price decision. ZPPA published 
the first MPI on 15th October, 2021. It is envisaged that the quarterly release of the MPI will curb inflated 
prices in the procurement of goods, works and services. PEs will use the MPI as a tool for budgeting, 
annual procurement planning, and bid/tender evaluation. 
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One of the salient provisions of the PPA is the revised composition of the ZPPA Board members which was 
revised to enhance corporate governance by including representatives from key stakeholders in public 
procurement. Other provisions of the PPA include preference and reservation schemes, subcontracting 
policy, electronic reverse auction, among others.

During the period under review the other strategic activities that were undertaken aimed, at strengthening 
the public procurement processes, included the following:  

i)	 the continued implementation of the Electronic Government Procurement (e-GP) System and its 
mandatory usage by PEs as provided in the PPA;

ii)	 compliance monitoring assessments in PEs to assess their adherence to the PPA; 

iii)	 research and advisory services, capacity building, training of staff in PEs and capacity 
development of the public procurement system; and

iv)	 the review of the Public Procurement Regulations, 2011.

This Annual Report therefore, underscores the major achievements made under various strategic 
objectives as outlined in the 2018-2021 Strategic Plan. 

I would like to thank my fellow Board members and the members of our Board Committees for their 
dedication throughout the year 2021. Finally, on behalf of the Board, I wish to thank ZPPA management 
and staff for their hard work in 2021. 

Mr. Richard Chizyuka
Board Chairperson
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3.	 DIRECTOR GENERAL’S STATEMENT

ZPPA is charged with the responsibility of regulating public procurement. The other responsibilities are, 
standard setting, compliance and performance monitoring, planning, professional development and 
information management and dissemination in the field of public procurement. 

In 2021, various planned activities were undertaken by ZPPA which included research and advisory 
services, capacity building, training of staff in procuring entities (PEs), compliance and capacity 
assessments, procurement audits, contract monitoring, review of various reports in accordance with the 
PPA and training of bidders.  

In the year under review, the following were some of the notable achievements:

•	 the Authority conducted a review of the 2018-2021 Strategic Plan. The findings from the review of 
the Strategic Plan were used as a basis for the development of the 2022 – 2026 Strategic Plan;

•	 there was an increase in the number of annual procurement plans (APPs) submitted to the Authority 
by PEs. Three hundred and six (306) APPs were submitted and reviewed by the Authority compared 
to one hundred and eighty-three (183) APPs that were submitted and reviewed in 2020 out of five 
hundred and seventy-eight (578) PEs;

•	 the Authority issued guidelines to PEs on undertaking price reasonableness analyses; 

•	 the Authority increased the capacity of its internet broadband from 20mbps to 30mpbs due to the 
increased number of end users on the electronic government procurement system; 

•	 there was an increase in the number of tenders published on the e-GP system by PEs in 2021 as one 
thousand, nine hundred and sixty-eight (1,968) tenders were uploaded on the system compared to 
seven hundred and fifty-one (751) tenders that were published on the system in 2020;

•	 the Authority with support from the World Bank developed e-learning modules to provide self-initiated 
continuous learning on the e-GP System modules; 

•	 there was an increase in supplier registration on the e-GP system. The Authority registered six 
thousand and eighty-one (6,081) suppliers on the e-GP system compared to five thousand eight 
hundred and ninety-five (5, 895) in 2020; 

•	 In 2021, the Authority through the Helpdesk interacted with a total of twelve thousand three hundred 
and ninety-seven (12,397) suppliers/bidders and provided tutorials in online bid submission and 
supplier registration compared to nine thousand four and eight six (9,486) suppliers/bidders in 2020. 
The statistics show that there was an increase in the number of suppliers interested in being trained 
in e-GP System use in 2021. 

In 2021, the Authority observed that most PEs that were trained and added to the e-GP system by ZPPA 
were not utilizing the system in their procurement activities. Therefore, a circular was issued to all PEs 
urging them to use the system as it was a mandatory requirement in accordance with the PPA. Further, the 
Authority issued seven (7) circulars on the suspension of suppliers, mandatory reporting requirements, 
the MPI and guidelines for price reasonableness analysis, commencement of the PPA, and amendments 
to Circular No.1 of 2013 on restricted category of municipal and district councils’ threshold. 

Finally, I wish to convey my special gratitude to the Board, the Government of the Republic of Zambia 
and Cooperating Partners for the financial and technical support rendered to the Authority during the 
period under review. Further, management and staff wish to convey their special gratitude to the Board 
of Directors for their continued support and strategic guidance which was important to the institution in 
fulfilling its mandate. Furthermore, I would like to acknowledge and thank ZPPA staff for their commitment 
to work, without them none of the activities highlighted would have been undertaken.

Idah C. Chella (Mrs.)
Director General
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4.	CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE – BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS

Dr. Edward Lusambo
Board member
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4.1 	Board of Directors 
	 The Authority is governed by a Board of Directors which is composed of eleven (11) part-time members 

appointed in accordance with section 7(1) of the PPA. Subject to the provisions of the PPA, a member of 
the Board holds office for a period of three (3) years from the date of appointment and may be re-appointed 
for a further period of three (3) years. The Board is responsible for the overall stewardship of the Authority 
in accordance with corporate governance principles. It oversees the Authority's discharge of its duties 
and monitors its governance framework, policies, procedures and practices. Further, it is responsible 
for ensuring that the Authority has appropriate controls and systems in place to effectively execute its 
mandate as a regulator of public procurement. The Board is ultimately accountable and responsible for 
the performance of the Authority. 

4.2    Board Committees
	 In carrying out its functions, the Board constituted three (3) committees which meet on a quarterly basis 

to review submissions from management before submission to the Board for final approval. 

4.2.1    Technical Committee 

The Terms of Reference for the Technical Committee include the following: 

(i)	 to review and monitor the execution of the Authority’s mandate as reflected in the PPA, Public 
Procurement Regulations (PPR) and Strategic Plan; 

(ii)	 to review and monitor technical policies that relate to the performance and implementation of 
strategic activities of the Authority;

(iii)	 to assess the effectiveness of tools, procedures and methods that are used by the Authority in the 
execution of its mandate and recommend changes in order to improve compliance monitoring, audit 
mechanisms, capacity building and advisory services in public procurement; and

(iv)	 to recommend changes to the PPA and PPR. 

4.2.2 Finance and Administration Committee

The Terms of Reference for the Finance and Administration Committee include the following: 

(i)	 to review and recommend the approval of budgets, annual work plans and audited financial 
statements for the Authority; 

(ii)	  to consider and approve the appropriateness of accounting policies and whether they are prudent 
and consistent with prior practice, and comply with legal requirements; 

(iii)	 to review and recommend an appropriate organisational structure for the Authority commensurate 
with its mandate; and

(iv)	 to ensure that management implements strategies and policies that are approved by the Board from 
time to time. 

4.2.3   Audit and Risk Committee 

The Terms of Reference for the Audit and Risk Committee include the following: 

(i)	 to review the scope of internal audit and audit plan; 

(ii)	 to review significant matters reported by the auditors; (internal and external) and the cooperation 
and coordination between them; 

(iii)	 to review systems of internal controls and risk management to ascertain their adequacy and 
effectiveness; and 

(iv)	 to review audit reports by ensuring that management is taking appropriate corrective actions in 
a timely manner to address weaknesses and other lapses identified by both internal and external 
auditors. 

Note: Appendices 1, 2 and 3 indicate names of the Board Committee members during the year 2021. 
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4.2.4    Board and Board Committee Meetings 

	 The Board Committees are required to meet at least once in every quarter. During the period under 
review, the Technical and Finance and Administration Committees held four (4) meetings while the 
Audit and Risk Committee held five (5). 

	 The PPA provides that the Board shall meet at least once in every three months for the transaction 
of business relating to the Authority. In 2021, six (6) meetings of the Board were held.  Four (4) of 
the six (6) meetings were regular meetings while two (2) were special meetings.  

      	  Table 1:   Board meetings

Details Targets Actuals Number of Meetings
Quarter 1 Meeting     1      1               1
Quarter 2 Meeting     1      1               1
Quarter 3 Meeting     1      1               1
Quarter 4 Meeting     1      3               3
Total     4      6               6

        	 Table 2:     Committee meetings

Committee Target Number of Meetings
Technical      4              4
Finance and Administration      4              4
Audit and Risk      4             5
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4.3	 EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT
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5.0 PUBLIC PROCUREMENT REGULATION

5.1 COMPLIANCE MONITORING 
 Compliance Monitoring is one of the key functions of the Authority in regulating public procurement 

especially following the decentralisation of the public procurement function to PEs. This ensures that 
PEs follow laid down procedures as detailed in the PPA and the Public Procurement Regulations (PPR) of 
2011. Therefore, a number of strategic activities are undertaken by the Authority that include compliance 
and capacity assessments, procurement audits, contract monitoring and review of various reports in line 
with its mandate in the PPA.

(i) Compliance Monitoring and other activities

 In fulfi lling its mandate, the Authority monitors compliance with the PPA in PEs.  In 2021, ZPPA 
conducted the following compliance monitoring activities:

(a) Compliance Monitoring Assessments

 The Authority conducted forty-three (43) compliance and capacity assessments aimed at reviewing 
compliance with the PPA, procurement procedures, resources available to PEs for use, the structures for 
procurement such as personnel manning the procurement unit or department, the reporting arrangement, 
Procurement Committee composition, electronic government procurement (e-GP) readiness and other 
procurement operations. The full list of the institutions assessed is indicated in Appendix 4. Table 3 
highlights the major outcomes as indicated in Appendix 5.

 Table 3: Results of the Compliance Assessments on 43 PEs

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45

E-gp Preparedness
Annual Procurement Planning

Adequate resources and equipment
Submission of Procurement Reports to ZPPA

Record Keeping
Consistent use of procurement documents

Capacity of personnel and adequate staffing

COMPLIANCE WITH KEY INDICATORS BY 
THE 43 PES ASSESSED 

Non - Compliant Compl iant

Thirty-two (32) follow-up assessments and compliance visits were undertaken which showed signifi cant 
improvement in compliance levels compared to the previous assessments. Out of the forty-three 
(43) assessed PEs, nineteen (19) submitted annual procurement plans to the Authority, ten (10) had 
adequate resources and equipment to carry out the procurement function, two (2) maintained complete 
procurement records and thirty-seven (37) had adequate staff in their procurement units. Only three (3) 
of the PEs assessed were using procurement documentation consistently and fi ve (5) submitted all the 
required reports to the Authority.

16.4% of the assessed PEs were substantially compliant, 74.4% were fairly compliant while 9.3% were 
non-compliant. Table 4 shows the compliance classifi cation arising from the assessments carried out.
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Table 4: Compliance Classification

Key
0 – 49% Non-Compliant
50 – 74% Fairly Compliant
75 – 99% 
100% Fully Compliant

(b)    	 Procurement Audits

	 According to Section 6(2)(i) of the PPA, ZPPA is mandated to institute procurement audits in order to 
determine the completeness and accuracy of procurement processes to ascertain compliance with 
the PPA and PPR. In the period under review five (5) procurement audits were carried out. This exercise 
involved the review of the entire procurement processes.

	 Five (5) audits were conducted by the Authority’s staff in the following PEs: Muchinga Provincial 
Administration, Indeni Petroleum Refinery Company Limited, Chipata City Council, Ministry of Infrastructure, 
Housing and Urban Development and Mulungushi University.

	 Compliance levels in all the audited institutions were generally low and substantive work was needed to 
bring them into compliance. Therefore, strict action plans were agreed upon with all concerned PEs to 
ensure adherence to procurement procedures. To mitigate the challenges highlighted in the audit findings, 
ZPPA will continue to conduct capacity building interventions in the PEs. In addition, Controlling Officers in 
the respective PEs audited were advised to enforce the agreed action plans.

(c)   	 Consideration of Appeals

	 During the period under review, the Authority received and considered fourteen (14) appeals on various 
procurements undertaken by the PEs.  Seven (7) were dismissed for lack of merit while three (3) appeals 
were upheld in part and one (1) appeal was withdrawn by the appellant. Three (3) appeals were on-going 
as at 31st December, 2021.  Appendix 6 provides more details regarding the appeals.

(d) 	 Applications for Deviations, Accreditations and Alternative Procurement Systems (DAAPS), and Use of 
Direct Bidding Procurement Method

         	 A total of one thousand and ninety-nine (1099) applications from PEs for deviations from procurement 
rules, methods, processes or documents and accreditations of alternative procurement systems and use 
of the direct bidding procurement method in line with Sections 46, 79 and 80 of the PPA were considered 
by the Authority. Deviations and accreditations of alternative procurement systems are meant to provide 
flexibility and efficiency in the operations of PEs. Out of one thousand and ninety-nine (1099) applications, 
one thousand and three (1003) were granted, out of which five hundred and seventy-nine (579) were 
for direct bidding in line with the PPA and four hundred and twenty-four (424) were for deviations from 
procurement rules, methods, processes or documents and accreditations of alternative procurement 
systems. Ninety-six (96) applications were rejected for lack of compelling justifications. Table 5 shows the 
distribution of the applications received and considered during the year.
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Table 5: Distribution of DAAPS and Direct Bidding Applications

Rejected
9%

Granted as 
deviations

38%

Granted in line 
with the PPA 

(direct bidding)
53%

DAAPS APPLICATIONS - 2021 

Rejected

Granted as deviations

Granted in line with the PPA
(direct bidding)

  (e)   Review of Annual Procurement Plans

 The preparation and submission of annual procurement plans (APPs) to the Authority is a legal requirement 
under the PPA. The APPs are reviewed by the Authority and appropriate guidance is given to the PEs prior 
to the execution of the plans. While the APPs are meant to guide the Authority on key procurements that 
need to be monitored, they also provide a source of information for purposes of planning by bidders, 
compliance monitoring and tracking of key procurements.

 A total of three hundred and six (306) APPs were submitted and reviewed by the Authority. The PEs were 
advised on the changes that were required before implementation of the APPs.  Delays in submitting the 
plans to the Authority, non-consolidation of similar procurements and use of inappropriate procurement 
methods which were not consistent with the estimated cost of the procurement’s requirements were some 
of the notable observations from the review by the Authority.

(f)   Review of Procurement Committee Minutes and Quarterly  

 Procurement Reports

 A total of eight hundred and ten (810) sets of Procurement Committee minutes and four hundred and 
nineteen (419) quarterly procurement reports from various PEs were reviewed and appropriate guidance 
was given where necessary. This was compared to nine hundred and fi fty-six (956) Procurement Committee 
minutes and four hundred and forty (440) quarterly procurement reports that were reviewed in 2020.

(g)  Review of Direct Bidding Reports

 A total of two hundred and ninety (290) direct bid reports were reviewed by 31st December, 2021. Notable 
from the reviews was the late submission of the monthly reports by the PEs. Furthermore, justifi cation by 
some PEs for the use of direct bidding procurement method was not in line with ZPPA Circular No. 3 of 
2017. Generally, there was adherence to the requirements of the Circular.

(h)  Composition of Procurement Committees

 A total of one hundred and one (101) correspondences from PEs communicating changes and appointment 
of Procurement Committees were reviewed and feedback was provided where necessary. It was observed 
that the appointed members met the requirements provided in the PPA. In a few instances however, the 
members were re-appointed for a period of two (2) years instead of three (3) years as required in the PPA.

(i)   Suspension of Bidders/Suppliers

 During the period under review, two (2) companies were suspended from participating in public procurement 
in accordance with section 96 of the PPA.  Global Seals Zambia Limited was suspended from participating 
in public procurement for a period of two (2) years for failing to perform contractual obligations. Vglux 
Resources Corporation Limited was suspended from participating in public procurement in the country for 
one (1) year for breaching procurement laws and procedures.
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(j)  	 Investigations

	 A total of twelve (12) cases were investigated during the year arising from reports from PEs, bidders and 
anonymous sources with eight (8) concluded and four (4) were ongoing as at 31st December, 2021. Of the 
eight (8) investigations concluded, six (6) were recommendations from a PE to suspend or permanently 
bar suppliers and two (2) cases involved general concerns of irregularities in procurement processes.  
Details of the investigations conducted are tabulated in Appendix 7.

(k) 	  Contract Monitoring

	 In accordance with its mandate of monitoring the execution of contracts entered into by PEs, the Authority 
reviewed a total of forty-six (46) contracts. The focus of the contract monitoring exercise was on the 
contract duration, status, and costs including variations and completion of the projects. The PEs were 
informed of the findings. Appendix 8 provides further details of this activity.

	

 5.2 	 RESEARCH AND CAPACITY DEVELOPMENT 
	 The Research and Capacity Development function was formerly performed under a Unit in the Compliance 

Monitoring Department but was operationalised as a department in June 2021. Through this function, 
the Authority is coordinating and promoting capacity building and professional development in the public 
procurement system, and carrying out continuous research and compilation of data for the Market Price 
Index (MPI) which public institutions use in their procurements.

	 The following were the activities undertaken by in the year under review:

(i)	 Capacity Development Activities

	 Section 6(2)(k) of the PPA mandates ZPPA to coordinate and promote capacity building and 
professional development in the public procurement system. In line with this mandate, the Authority 
coordinates tailor made training programmes and facilitates at stakeholder organized training 
workshops for PEs to equip them with skills and knowledge in public procurement.

a)	 Stakeholder Organized Programmes

	 In the year under review, the Authority participated in a training of trainers (ToT) workshop 
which was organized by Ministry of Local Government and Rural Development, and Chalimbana 
Local Government Training Institute from 30th August to 3rd September, 2021. The purpose of 
the training was to equip participants with knowledge and skills in procurement procedures. 
Four (4) ZPPA staff were part of the team of facilitators for the orientation/induction of newly 
elected civic leaders that included Mayors, Deputy Mayors, and Councillors. Further, Town 
Clerks and Council Secretaries were included in the training. The orientation training was 
conducted in four (4) provincial training hubs namely Livingstone in Southern Province, Kitwe 
in Copperbelt province, Chongwe in Lusaka province, and Mpika in Muchinga Province. The 
training hubs catered for all civic leaders from all the ten (10) provinces in the country. A total 
number of two thousand eight hundred and seventy-five (2,875) participants were trained. 

	 The Authority was invited to facilitate on procurement related topics at various workshops 
organised by stakeholders. A summary of stakeholder organized workshops is in Appendix 9.

b)	 Tailor Made Programmes

	 A number of training activities were put on hold or postponed in the first and second quarter 
of 2021 due to the Covid-19 pandemic and restrictions as physical in-person workshops 
were suspended in the public sector. A summary of tailor-made programmes is indicated in 
Appendix 10.

c)        Other Capacity Building Activities 

	 Other capacity building interventions in the first quarter of 2021 included the reviewing of a 
Capacity Development Strategy report from a GIZ consultant and providing feedback to the 
consultant. The report focused on strengthening Good Financial Governance (GFG) in Zambia 
and the development of a Procurement Capacity Development Strategy for Zambia. 
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(ii)	 Research and Advisory Service

	 Pursuant to section 6(2)(m) of the PPA, the Authority is mandated to undertake research on the 
public procurement system and any developments arising from the system. In 2021 research 
activities were largely restricted to the Market Price Index data collection.  The following activities 
were undertaken:

a)	 Publication of the Market Price Index

	 Some of the stakeholders that attended the launch of the first publication of the market 
price index in October, 2021.

	 In accordance with section 12 (3) of the PPA, ZPPA is mandated to publish the MPI on a 
quarterly basis, to be used by a controlling officer, chief executive officer and PEs for purposes 
of an informed price decision. Further, section 12(2) of the PPA provides that a PE shall 
procure standard goods, works and services in accordance with the price index issued by 
the Authority. In 2021, ZPPA published the first MPI on 15th October. The MPI was developed 
through a consultative process with Zambia Statistics Agency which is the Government 
agency responsible for the coordination of production and publication of official statistics in 
Zambia, in accordance with the Statistics Act No.13 of 2018. The market price information in 
the MPI was collected from the different provinces of the country. The quarterly release of the 
MPI will curb inflated prices in the procurement of goods, works and services. Additionally, 
PEs will use the MPI as a tool for budgeting, annual procurement planning, and bid/tender 
evaluation. As stated during the launch of the first MPI, ZPPA shall continuously review and 
update the MPI to ensure that goods, works or services that are commonly procured by PEs 
are covered in the subsequent MPIs. The MPIs will be dynamic to keep up with the changes 
in price and items procured.  

b)	  Price Reasonableness Analysis

	 Section 12(4) of the PPA requires PEs to, where an item to be procured is not covered in 
the quarterly MPI, undertake a price reasonableness analysis. Price reasonable analysis is 
a price benchmarking exercise of the best evaluated bidder with the average market price, 
historical price or other regulators’ price indexes. The main purpose of undertaking the price 
reasonableness analysis is to assure that the price to be paid for goods, works or services 
is fair and reasonable. This is essential to ensure value for money and that public funds 
are utilised in a cost-effective manner to preserve funding particularly where resources are 
limited. In accordance with section 111(1) of the PPA, in the year under review, the Authority 
issued guidelines to PEs on undertaking the price reasonableness analysis. The Authority 
analysed all applications for price reasonableness analysis submitted by PEs from October 
15th 2021 to December 31st 2021.

5.3    HUMAN RESOURCE AND ADMINISTRATION 
	 During the period under review, the Authority through Human Resource and Administration (HRA) continued 

to coordinate the implementation and monitoring of 2018-2022 Strategic Plan. ZPPA implemented various 
programmes in managing its human resources and promoting employee development to discharge the 
Authority’s mandate. To foster a conducive work environment and ensure industrial harmony, the Authority 
continued to implement programmes that promoted employee motivation, relations and measures to 
safeguard staff lives in the wake of the Covid-19 pandemic. 

	 During the year under review, ZPPA undertook the activities highlighted below:

(i)	 Establishment and Structure

	 The Authority continued to implement the approved institutional establishment of one hundred and 
fifteen (115) positions comprising permanent and pensionable and fixed-term contract positions. 
The Authority staff structure comprised management (non-represented staff) and unionized staff. 

	 As at 31st December, 2021, seventy-one (71) positions representing 61% were filled out of an 
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establishment of one hundred and fi fteen (115). The distribution of staff by gender in the Authority 
and staffi ng was as shown in Table 6.

 Table 6 Staff Distribution by Gender and Staffi ng in 2021

a) Amendment to the Organizational Structure

 During the period under review, the Authority amended the organization structure to include 
the position of Manager-Procurement. The position of Manager-Procurement was initially 
placed at Principal Offi cer level which is below the level at which the Authority guided PEs to 
place the position of Head of Procurement. 

b) Attrition Rate

 The Attrition rate for the year ended 31st December, 2021 was 5.8% as a result of the separation 
of four (4) members of staff. Out of the four (4), three (3) resigned from their positions while 
one (1) separated through death.

c) Vacant Positions

 Out of the one hundred and fi fteen (115) permanent and fi xed-term contract positions, forty-
six (46) positions remained vacant as at 31st December, 2021. 

 However, three (3) positions that became vacant due to resignations and death and fi ve (5) additional 
positions funded in the 2022 Budget were earmarked to be fi lled in the fi rst quarter of 2022. 

(ii) Collective Bargaining

 During the period under review, management held collective bargaining meetings with Zambia 
Union of Financial Institutions and Allied Workers (ZUFIAW) ZUFIAW to negotiate and conclude a 
Collective Agreement for the period 2021-2023. The negotiations were concluded timely and the 
Collective Agreement between management and ZUFIAW was approved by the Ministry of Labour 
and Social Security.  In addition, management commenced salary negotiations for the year 2022 
with ZUFIAW.

(iii) Operations Development

 The Authority has been implementing various policies in order to manage and support various staff 
needs and create a conducive working environment. During the period under review, ZPPA developed 
the policies and guidelines as indicated below.

(a) Anti-Fraud and Anti-Bribery Policy

 The Authority developed the Anti-Fraud and Anti-Bribery Policy which was approved by the 
Board in March, 2021. The policy is currently being implemented.

35%

65%

STAFF	DISTRIBUTION	BY	
GENDER

Female Male

60%

40%

STAFFING
Filled Posi tions Vacant Positions
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(b) Guidelines on Virtual working

 The Authority developed guidelines on working from home. The guidelines were developed as 
a response to the COVID-19 pandemic which affected the Authority. The guidelines, among 
other things, highlighted the importance of taking responsibility when working from home and 
mode of communication when working from home. Members of staff were also guided on 
setting up appropriate work stations and undertaking assigned work, regular communication 
and being available for work. 

(iv) Labour Day

  The Authority commemorated Labour Day on 4th June, 2021 and four (4) deserving members of 
staff were presented with Labour awards in four (4) different categories. The categories included 
 Most Hardworking Employee, Most Punctual Employee, Most Disciplined Employee and Longest 
Serving Employee.

Mr Jebby Tembo, receiving the Most Punctual Employee Award

Mr. Charles Mwale, receiving the Most Hardworking Employee Award.
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(v)	 Capacity Building

	 The Authority is committed to facilitating staff development when resources are available. 

a.	 Continuous Professional Development 

	 During the period under review, the Authority facilitated the attendance of annual continuous 
professional development (CPD) conference and general meeting for seven (7) members of 
staff from the Compliance Monitoring Department in line with their respective professional 
bodies’ capacity building requirements. The Authority did not support other professionals due 
to lack of financial resources.

b.	 Training

	 During the period under review the Authority facilitated trainings for a total of forty-eight (48) 
members of staff in the trainings indicated in Table 7.

	 Table 7:  Training

Training Facilitator Number of 
staff trained

Introduction to domestic arbitration for 
the Principal Officer

Zambia Institute of Advanced Legal 
Studies and undertaken Physically 1

Framework Agreements and E-Auction. World Bank and undertaken Virtually 47

(vi)	 Health and Wellness

	 The Authority has a Health and Safety Policy which is implemented in line with the Occupational 
Health and Safety Act No. 36 of 2010.During the period under review, the Authority recorded twenty 
(20) COVID-19 positive cases and one (1) death among staff. In line with the guidance in Cabinet 
Office Circulars, management instituted a number of measures to manage and prevent the spread 
of COVID-19. 

	 During the period under review, the Authority’s staff participated in physical exercises such as social 
football. The Authority did not implement any other mental wellness or physical activities due to 
restrictions arising from COVID-19, among other reasons.

(vii)	 Review and development of the 2022-2026 Strategic 

	 In 2021, the Authority concluded the implementation and review of its performance against the 
2018-2021 Strategic Plan for a period of four (4) years. The Strategic Plan had seven (7) Strategic 
Priority Areas which anchored its mandate as contained in Section 6 of the PPA. In order to track 
progress made in implementing the Strategic Plan, the Authority undertook a performance review of 
the Strategic Plan. 

	 The performance review of the 2018-2021 Strategic Plan included the review of performance against 
seven (7) strategic priorities and targets at operational level. The Authority achieved seventy-three 
(73%) of its planned targets during the four (4) year period.   

 

 5.4   INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY
	 The Department of Information and Communication Technology (ICT) is responsible for planning, 

operating and supporting the institutional ICT infrastructure to enable end users carry out their duties 
effectively and efficiently.  The Department of ICT also ensures that ICT systems are well secured for 
smooth and continued daily business operations.  During the period under review the following activities 
were undertaken: -

(i)	 Enhancement of the Internet Connectivity.

	 During the period under review, the Authority increased the capacity of its internet broadband from 
20mbps to 30mpbs.  The need for the broadband enhancement was due to the increased numbers 
of end users on the electronic government procurement system. 
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(ii)	 Fixed Asset Register 

	 During the period under review, the Authority upgraded its financial system software by including 
an extra license for the Fixed Asset Register module.  The inclusion of the asset register module 
enabled the Authority to be able to effectively and efficiently monitor, maintain and keep tracking 
records of its fixed assets used by the Authority. 

(iii)	 Enhancement of the Data Centre 

	 The Authority centrally operates and hosts its Information Systems (IS) in the data centre, and 
during the period under review, the Authority enhanced its data centre in the following areas:

a)	 increased the number of fire detection censors to improve the performance of the suppression 
system;

b)	 implemented the alert messaging system for monitoring the humidity and temperature of the 
data centre environment; 

c)	 replaced the external air condenser for the cooling system to improve the performance of the 
temperature control in the data centre; and 

d)	 installed an additional Uninterrupted Power Supply Unit (UPS) for the provisional of clean and 
stable power to the data centre and training laboratory. 

(iv)	 Training Laboratory  

	 One of the functions of the Authority is to maintain an electronic procurement system for compliance 
monitoring and use by the PEs and suppliers when conducting their daily public procurement 
business transactions.  During the period under review, the Authority implemented a training 
laboratory at its premises for providing training support services to users of the e-GP system.

5.5	 BOARD AND LEGAL AFFAIRS 
	 The role of the Board and Legal Affairs Department is to provide advisory services to the Authority in 

order to ensure that it performs its functions in accordance with the provisions of the PPA, PPR and 
other relevant legislation.  In addition, the Department is responsible for coordinating Board and Board 
Committee meetings in line with the PPA and principles of corporate governance.

	 The role of the Board and Legal Affairs Department is to provide advisory services to the Authority in 
order to ensure that it performs its functions in accordance with the provisions of the PPA, PPR and 
other relevant legislation.  In addition, the Department is responsible for coordinating Board and Board 
Committee meetings in line with the PPA and principles of corporate governance.

(i) 	 Legal Services

	 During the period under review, the Department provided advisory services on various matters 
including appeals and investigations of complaints from bidders and suppliers. There were two (2) 
legal challenges to decisions made by the Authority on appeals in 2021. 

	 The first legal challenge related to commencement of arbitration proceedings by a bidder who was 
not satisfied with the Authority’s decision on an appeal in line with section 100 (6) of the PPA. As at 
31st December, 2021, the parties had not yet agreed on the appointment of an arbitrator.  

	 The second legal challenge related to the interpretation of the provisions of the PPA and PPR on 
submission of appeals to the Authority. A bidder contended that the provisions of the PPR on appeals 
were inconsistent with the provisions of the PPA and sought a declaration from the High Court to 
that effect. The High Court held that the provisions of the PPR on appeals were not inconsistent with 
the provisions of the PPA but nonetheless rendered judgment in favour of the bidder. The Authority 
filed an appeal in the Court of Appeal against the said judgment. As at 31st December, 2021, the 
appeal had not yet been determined by the Court of Appeal. 

(ii)  	 Legislative Review 

	 During the period under review the Authority continued the process of reviewing the Public 
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Procurement Regulations, 2011 in order to align them with the provisions of the revised PPA and 
to ensure the smooth implementation of the said Act.   The draft Regulations were reviewed by 
various stakeholders who submitted their comments to the Authority in writing. However, as at 31st

December, 2021, the revised Regulations had not yet been published.  It is envisaged that the revised 
Regulations will be issued in the fi rst quarter of 2022.   

(iii)  Board and Board Committees

 The Board is responsible for the overall stewardship of the Authority and oversees the execution of 
its corporate mandate by management. The Board is responsible for: 

(a) the development/approval of the Authority's vision, mission statement,  goals and strategic 
plans, business plans, policies, fi nancial statements and annual budget;

(b) guiding management in strategic decision-making;

(c) overseeing management's discharge of duties and determining the terms and conditions of 
service of ZPPA staff;

(d) monitoring the Authority's governance framework, policies, procedures and practices; and

(e) eensuring that the Authority has appropriate controls and systems that work effectively.

 Iin line with its mandate, the Board reviewed quarterly reports on capacity building and 
compliance monitoring activities undertaken by the Authority such as procurement audits, 
capacity assessments and monitoring of contracts in various PEs. In addition, the Board 
reviewed quarterly reports on the implementation of the e-GP System, budget performance 
and internal audit. Further, the Board approved the 2022 budget and work plan for the 
Authority.

(iv)     Public Relations Unit

 In accordance with the ZPPA's strategic priority of enhancing public relations (PR) programmes 
to improve the Authority’s image, the PR Unit undertook the following activities aimed at creating 
awareness in public procurement:

(a) Media Coverage 

 During the period under review, a total of nineteen (19) radio programmes focusing on various public 
procurement related topics were produced and aired on radio stations which included, Zambia 
National Broadcasting Corporation (ZNBC) Radio 2, Parliament Radio, Hot FM, and Phoenix FM. 
Further, the Authority aired a total of six (6) television programmes on ZNBC TV and Parliament 
TV. Some of the topics for discussion included the role of ZPPA in the public procurement system, 
preference and reservation schemes and the subcontracting policy, market price index and price 
reasonableness analysis, procurement methods, competition and procurement planning, the PPA, 
implementation of the Electronic Government Procurement (e-GP) system and procurement audits. 

Director - Research and Capacity Development Mr. Justin Matimuna during an 
interview on Parliament TV.
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(b)	 Events Management and Media Engagement 

	 In 2021, the PR Unit held four (4) quarterly media briefings and organized one public function were the 
Authority launched the market price index in public procurement. The Unit issued various press releases 
to the media on the suspension of Global Seals Limited and Vglux Resources Corporation Limited from 
participating in public procurement, the commencement of the PPA, the mandatory usage of the e-GP 
System and ZPPA Circulars. 

	 In the third and fourth quarter of 2021, PR Unit observed that ZPPA had a negative corporate image 
bordering on lack of understanding of its role by some stakeholders. To address this problem, the Unit 
developed a short-term media plan which among other activities, involved holding a one-day media training 
workshop. The purpose was to train and sensitize media practitioners in Lusaka on ZPPA’s mandate. The 
topics covered during the training programme included the following:

•	 The role of ZPPA and PEs in the regulation of the public procurement system;

•	 Highlights of the PPA and the procurement cycle;

•	 The effectiveness of compliance monitoring;

•	 The implementation and effectiveness of the e-GP system; and 

•	 The challenges that ZPPA faces in regulating public procurement. 

	 A total of thirty-two (32) journalists from different media houses attended the training. Some of the 
participants were from the following media houses:

•	 Camnet TV;

•	 Daily Mail Newspaper;

•	 Times of Zambia Newspaper;

•	 Phoenix FM;

•	 Hot FM;

•	 Komboni radio;

•	 QFM;

•	 Millenium radio; and 

•	 Millenium TV.

(c)	 Publications 

	 The Authority published six hundred (600) copies of the annual report highlighting activities that were 
carried out in the year 2021. A total of two hundred (200) newsletters were printed. Further, four thousand 
(4000) brochures were printed and distributed to stakeholders. The brochures printed covered the following 
topics: 

1.	 highlights of the PPA;

2.	 what every bidder should know in tendering;

3.	 procurement planning;

4.	 e-GP system bid submission procedure; and

5.	 how to register on the system.

	 The purpose for all the publications was to disseminate information and sensitize the Authority’s 
stakeholders on various public procurement matters that relate to ZPPA.

(d)	 Exhibitions

	 To further enhance the engagement of stakeholders and get feedback from members of the public, the 
Authority took part in the Supply Chain Day Exhibition which was held at Government Complex in Lusaka. 
During the exhibition, the Authority interacted with two hundred and thirty-four (234) clients. However, due 



2021 Annual Report 21

Zambia Public Procurement Authority (ZPPA) 

to the COVID -19 pandemic the two (2) major exhibitions namely the Zambia International Trade Fair (ZITF) 
and the Lusaka Agricultural and Commercial Show (LACS) did not take place.

(e) Corporate Social Responsibility 

 During the period under review, ZPPA undertook corporate social responsibility activities. The Authority 
sponsored the Supply Chain Day exhibition and the Chief Executive Offi cer’s aerobics mania which was 
organized by the Agricultural Show Society of Zambia (ASSZ). The aerobics mania took place at the show 
grounds in Lusaka in June, 2021 while the Supply Chain Day took place at the Government Complex in 
December, 2021

 ZPPA donated medicated face masks and hand sanitizers to the Zambia Institute of Purchasing and 
Supply (ZIPS) during the Supply Chain Day exhibition and the aerobics mania.

Senior Offi cer - Information Communication Technology (ICT) Mr. Raban 
Siame interacting with clients during the Supply Chain Day Exhibition at 

Government Complex.

Chief Executive Offi cers with the founder of aerobics mania 
Mr. Makungo Muyembe during the aerobics at show grounds.
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5.6 ELECTRONIC GOVERNMENT PROCUREMENT 
 The Electronic Government Procurement Unit is responsible for managing the implementation and roll out 

of the Electronic Government Procurement (e-GP) System to all PEs in line with the Authority’s mandate 
of organizing and maintaining systems for the management of procurement data on public procurement 
opportunities, contract awards and other information of public interest. The following were the activities 
undertaken in 2021 in line with the Authority’s 2018-2021 Strategic Plan:

    The Authority undertook e-GP readiness assessments in seventy-four (74) PEs. Based on the spending 
category derived from the annual procurement plans, fi fty-one (51) PEs met all the requirements for 
e-GP system usage while  twenty-three (23) did not. The summary of e-GP readiness assessment was as 
shown in Table 8. 

 Table 8: e-GP Readiness Assessment 

No. Category Working Threshold No. of PEs assessed in e-GP system 
readiness 

2018 2019 2020 2021

1. High Spending 
PEs

Annual budget of twenty million 
Kwacha (K20, 000,001.00) and 
above.

17 15 10 15

2. M e d i u m 
Spending PEs

Annual budget of between fi ve 
million Kwacha (K5,000,001.00) and 
twenty million Kwacha
(K20, 000, 00.00).

13 24 23 26

3. Low Spending 
PEs

Annual budget of fi ve million 
Kwacha 
(K5, 000,000.00) and below.

15 36 32 33

 The categories were arrived at based on the working thresholds. 

 Publications of Tenders on the e-GP System

 PEs published one thousand, nine hundred and sixty-eight (1,968) tenders on the e-GP System during the 
period under review as shown in Table 9.

 Road Transport and Safety Agency (RTSA) Procurement Unit Staff during the 
e-GP site visit at the Agency.
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`  Table 9: Tenders uploaded on the System 

 2019 2020 2021

260 751 Open 
National 
Bidding

Open Interna-
tional Bidding

Limited 
National 
Bidding 

Simplifi ed 
Bidding

Direct 
Bidding

Limited 
National 

Selection

Open 
National 

Selection

Open 
Interna-

tional Se-
lection

162 4 27 640 126 1 6 2
968

 A summary of tenders uploaded on the system is in Appendix 11.

a) Addition of PEs to the e-GP system 

 In 2021, the Authority trained fi fty-two (52) PEs in full e-GP usage training. Twenty (20) of the PEs 
trained were in the high spending category.  The Authority met the strategic objective for the period 
under review of adding 25% of high spending PEs to the e-GP system. A summary of PEs trained and 
added to the e-GP system is indicated in Appendix 12.

 Further, in line with Circular No. 3 of 2019, which requires all PEs to submit their annual procurement 
plans through the e-GP system, as at 31st December 2021, two hundred and two (202) out of fi ve 
hundred and seventy-eight (578) PEs adhered to the provisions of the Circular. Appendix 13 is a 
summary of PEs that uploaded Annual Procurement Plans on the e-GP System in 2021. 

b) Training and sensitization of bidders on e-tendering

  In 2021, the Authority through the Helpdesk interacted with a total of twelve thousand three hundred 
and ninety-seven (12, 397) suppliers/bidders and provided tutorials in online bid submission and 
supplier registration.  In comparison to 2020, the Helpdesk interacted with nine thousand four and 
eight six (9,486) suppliers/bidders. The statistics show that there was an increase in the number of 
suppliers interested in being trained in e-GP System use in 2021. 

 Further, the Authority organised workshops in North Western and Muchinga Provinces for suppliers 
to ensure successful bidding on the e-GP System. The annual performance was as  shown in 
Table 10.

National Health Insurance Management Authority staff
undergoing e-GP training
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	  Table 10: Supplier e-GP Usage Training

Type of Training 2019 2020 2021
Online Bid Submission 4,696 5,895 6,081

	

c)	 Supplier Registration

	 To facilitate access to business opportunities and transacting through the e-GP system, the Authority 
has an established supplier database.  The Authority registered six thousand and eighty-one (6,081) 
suppliers. The registration per quarter was as indicated in Table 11. 

	 Table 11: Supplier Registration

Description Qtr 1 Qtr 2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4

Suppliers Registered 1,638 1,313 815 2,315

Cumulative Number of Supplier Accounts on 
the e-GP 6,081

		  In comparison to 2020, supplier registration was five thousand eight hundred and ninety-five (5, 
895). There was an increase in the number of suppliers in 2021 registering on the e-GP System.  

d)	 Establishment of a Computer Laboratory for training users. 

	 The Authority with funding support from GIZ established a Computer Laboratory for training of e-GP 
System users. The computer laboratory was operationalised in 2021.

e)	 E-Learning Modules

	 The Authority with support from World Bank established e-learning modules to provide self-initiated 
continuous learning on the e-GP System modules. 

5.7	 INTERNAL AUDIT 
	 The Internal Audit Department is responsible for providing an independent, objective assurance and 

consulting activity designed to add value and improve the Authority’s operations. In the year 2021, all audit 
areas on the Annual Plan were audited and areas for improvement highlighted. Quarterly progress reports 
were presented to the Audit and Risk Committee and the Board of Directors.

	 The Covid 19 pandemic continued to be one of the major risks for the Authority as it affected the attainment 
of the Authority’s strategic objectives. In mitigating the risk, the Authority encouraged staff to adhere to 
national health guidelines, face to face interactions with clients were suspended and online platforms were 
utilized as means of communication. Inadequate staffing was another risk that affected the Authority’s 
attainment of strategic objectives and the effective implementation of the new provisions in the PPA which 
came into effect on 16th April 2021.  The Authority has continued to request for additional funds from the 
Ministry of Finance to ensure that the approved establishment is filled within a reasonable time. 

 5.8       FINANCE
	 The Finance Department is responsible for the overall financial management of the Authority’s budgeting, 

resource mobilization and preparation of financial reports for decision making. The Department prepared 
the financial statements for 2021. The financial statements were audited by the Office of the Auditor 
General and presented fairly in all material respects of the financial position of the Authority. The audited 
financial statements are attached to this report.
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APPENDICES

Appendix 1: Technical Committee

1. Dr. Jones J. Kalyongwe - Zambia Institute of Purchasing and Supply Chairperson 

2. Mr. George Mbasela - Smart Zambia Institute Member
3. Dr Edward Lusambo – University of Zambia Member
4. Mr.  James Njolomba Member
5. Mr. Kanyuka Mumba - Engineering Institution of Zambia Member
6. Mrs. Rachael Zimba Member
7. Mrs. Idah C.  Chella - Director General 

ZPPA
Ex officio

8. Ms. Mwaka Ndhlovu - Board Secretary
ZPPA 

Secretary

Appendix 2: Finance and Administration Committee

1. Ms. Mumbi Kandeke Mwila -Bank of Zambia Chairperson
2. Mrs.  Emmy S. Chenguluka - Ministry of Finance and National Planning Member 
3. Mr. Crispin Chilikwela – Zambia Institute of Human Resource Member
4. Mr. Joseph N. Ngulube  Member
5. Mrs. Idah C. Chella - Director General 

ZPPA
Member

6. Ms. Mwaka Ndhlovu - Board Secretary -ZPPA  Secretary
   

Appendix 3: Risk and Audit Committee

1. Mr. Joe Simachela -Ministry of Justice Chairperson
2. Mrs. Rose. G.K. Malila -Phiri - 

Zambia Institute of Chartered Accountants
Member

3. Ms. Gertrude Musyani - Law Association of Zambia Member
4. Mr. Hillard Kabole - Institute of Internal Auditors Member
5. Mr. Moonga Mumba – Zambia Revenue Authority Member
6. Mrs. Idah C. Chella - Director General

ZPPA 
Ex officio

7. Ms. Mwaka Ndhlovu - Board Secretary
ZPPA 

Secretary
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Appendix 4: Procuring Entities Assessed in 2021

No. PROCURING ENTITY
ASSESSMENT 
SCORE

COMPLIANCE 
CLASSIFICATION

1. Copperbelt University (CBU) 57.4% Fairly Compliant
2. Mufulira Municipal Council (MMC) 61% Fairly Compliant
3. Northern Technical College Board (NORTEC) 81% Substantially Compliant
4. Ronald Ross General Hospital (RRGH) 63.1% Fairly Compliant
5. Isoka Trades Training Institute (ITTI) 63% Fairly Compliant
6. Isoka Town Council (ITC) 50.6% Fairly Compliant
7. Lavushimanda Town Council (LTC) 82.2% Substantially Compliant
8. Kanchibiya Town Council (KTC) 75.4% Substantially Compliant
9.       Mukuba University 97% Substantially Compliant
10.      Solwezi Municipal Council 94.10% Substantially Compliant
11.       Chavuma Town Council 72.22% Fairly Compliant
12.      Kabompo Town Council 69.89% Fairly Compliant
13.       Monze Town Council 69% Fairly Compliant
14.        Katete District Health Office 68.95% Fairly Compliant
15.       Nyimba Town Council 66.39% Fairly Compliant
16.      Kasenengwa Town Council 63.82% Fairly Compliant
17.      Choma District Health Office 59.60% Fairly Compliant
18.   St. Mawaggali Trades and Training Institute Management Board 55% Fairly Compliant
19.    Sinda District Health Office 52.62% Fairly Compliant
20.   David Livingstone College of Education 45.45% Non-compliant
21. Mansa Municipal Council 83% Substantially Compliant
22. Chifunabuli Town Council 51.37% Fairly Compliant
23. Nchelenge Town Council 68.75 Fairly Compliant
24. Chienge Town Council 65.79 Fairly Compliant 
25. Chingola Town Council 64.5 Fairly Compliant
26. Kitwe College of Education 42.6 Non-Compliant
27. Chibombo Town Council 67.8 Fairly Compliant
28. Chisamba Town Council 65.2 Fairly Compliant
29. Kwame Nkrumah University 81.46 Substantially Compliant
30. Kapiri Mposhi Town Council 66.4 Fairly Compliant
31. Sioma Town Council 53 Fairly Compliant
32. Sesheke Town Council 51.6 Fairly Compliant
33. Kalabo Town Council 55.2 Fairly Compliant
34. Kaoma Town Council 53.8 Fairly Compliant
35. Zimba Town Council 55 Fairly Compliant
36. Kalomo Town Council 63 Fairly Compliant
37. District Health Office, Livingstone 49 Non-Compliant
38. Livingstone Institute of Business and Engineering Studies 55 Fairly Compliant
39. Lunte Town Council 69.3 Fairly Compliant
40. Luwingu Town Council 68.3 Fairly Compliant
41. Mungwi Town Council 66.8 Fairly Compliant
42. Mporokoso Town Council 61.7 Fairly Compliant
43. Southern Water and Sanitation Company Limited 46 Non-Compliant
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Appendix 5: Findings of Compliance Monitoring Assessments Conducted in 2021

No. Performance Area         Findings Implication Recommendations
1 Staffing 42 out of the 43 PEs 

had fully filled their PU 
structures.

Some PUs were unable to 
carry out their procurement 
activities effectively and 
efficiently due to inadequate 
staff.

1 PE should ensure that 
the structure is fully filled 
for efficient and effective 
operations of the PU.

37 out of the 43 PEs had 
adequate staffing in the PU.

Non-procurement personnel 
conducting procurements 
in some PEs contrary to 
Section 12 of the PPA. 

The 6 PEs that did not 
have adequate staffing 
should ensure that more 
procurement officers are 
placed in the PU.

2 Procurement Process Only 3 of the PEs assessed 
were consistently 
using procurement 
documentation (PRs, RFQs, 
GRNs, LPOs and Analysis 
Sheets).

Poor management of the 
procurement process, 
inaccurate /inconsistent 
quotations.

Controlling Officers should 
ensure that all procurement 
documents are used 
and kept in line with 
regulation 18 of the Public 
Procurement Regulations 
(PPR).

19 out of the 43 PEs 
assessed awarded 
most of the low value 
procurements carried out 
through Simplified bidding 
method based on technical 
and fiscal considerations 
and not only on price 
consideration.

Award of contracts based 
on price considerations 
only may result in lowest 
technically acceptable 
offers being rejected and 
PEs may not get value for 
money.

Evaluation should take into 
account both technical and 
fiscal considerations in 
order to arrive at the lowest 
technically acceptable 
offer and achieve value for 
money in the 24 PEs.

3 Record Keeping 2 out of the 43 
PEs assessed had 
complete procurement 
documentation for low 
value procurements.

Keeping complete records 
ensures compliance with 
regulation 18 of the PPR,
protects essential 
documents and makes 
retrieval easy.

The non-compliant PUs 
should start keeping 
complete procurement 
records for the entire 
procurement cycle in line 
with regulation 18 of the 
PPR.

4 Reporting 5 out of the 43 PEs 
assessed submitted all the 
reports required by ZPPA 
(Procurement Committee 
minutes Quarterly Reports 
and Direct Bidding Report).

Non-submission of reports 
to ZPPA made it difficult 
to monitor compliance 
and provide necessary 
feedback.

The non-compliant PEs 
should ensure that all 
reports required by the 
Authority are submitted 
pursuant to regulation 6 of 
the PPR.

5 Resources and 
Equipment

10 out of the 43 PEs 
assessed had adequate 
resources and equipment in 
the PU (such as dedicated 
motor vehicle, office space, 
filling cabinets, phone lines, 
office equipment).

Increased efficiencies in the 
procurement process and 
productivity. 

The non-compliant PEs 
should provide adequate 
equipment for efficient PU 
operations.

6 Procurement Planning 19 out of the 43 PEs 
assessed submitted 
procurement plans to ZPPA 
for the period under review.

Non-compliance with 
Section 42 of the PPA.

Lack of procurement 
planning leads to wrong 
usage of procurement 
methods and high costs 
may be incurred.

The 24 non-compliant 
PEs should ensure timely 
submission of annual 
procurement plans to ZPPA 
in accordance with Section 
42 (2) of the PPA and 
Circular No. 3 of 2015 on 
procurement planning.

7 Electronic Government 
Procurement (e-GP) 
Preparedness

28 out of the 43 PEs 
assessed had internet 
connectivity and requisite 
information communication 
technology (ICT) equipment 
for use in the e-GP system.

Enhances usage of the e-GP 
system when publishing 
notices and signals 
readiness for roll out to the 
PEs.

The non-compliant PEs 
should ensure that they 
urgently procure internet 
services and adequate ICT 
equipment in readiness for 
the implementation of the 
e-GP system. 
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Appendix 6: Appeal Cases Handled in 2021

S/N Procuring Entity Appeal/Complaint Decision Status
1 National Road Fund 

Agency (NRFA)
Appeal on the tender for the supply, 
delivery and installation of nine (9) 
military tents.

Appeal ground one was upheld in 
part in accordance with section 70 
(5) (a) of the PPA.

Concluded

2 NAPSA Appeal against the tender 
for the provision of cleaning, 
landscaping and Pest Control to 
various National Pension Scheme 
Authority Properties – NAPSA/
DHRA/01/2020.

The appeal was dismissed in 
accordance with section 70 (5) (a) 
of the PPA.

Concluded

3 Examination Council 
of Zambia

Appeal on the tender for supply 
and delivery of office consumables 
on a one (1) year running contract 
with the Examination Council of 
Zambia Tender No. ECZ/PSU/
OC/003C-2020 Lot 1.

The appeal was dismissed in 
accordance with Section 70 (5) (a) 
of the PPA.

Concluded

4 Lusaka City Council Appeal on the tender for 
Performance Based Management 
and Maintenance of roads in the 
City of Lusaka 2020 – 2022 for 
Lusaka City Council.

The appeal was dismissed in 
accordance with section 70 (5) (a) 
of the PPA.

Concluded

5. Ministry of Tourism 
and Arts 

Appeal on the tender for the 
granting of Safari Hunting/
Photographic Tourism Concessions 
in nineteen Hunting Blocks in 
various game management 
areas (GMAs) Tender No. MTA/
SP/001/20.

The appeal was upheld in part in 
accordance with section 100 (5) 
(a) of the PPA. The Ministry was 
advised to re-evaluate the tender 
due to the identified anomalies 
in the evaluation process for the 
tender.

Concluded

6. Ministry of Fisheries 
and Livestock

The annulment of the contract 
award for the construction of nine 
Aquaculture service centre’s in the 
selected aquaculture parks and 
districts of Zambia (Lot 2: Mungwi 
Site B): Tender OIB No. MFL/
ZAEDP/W/002/2020                                                            

The appeal was dismissed because 
the decision by the Ministry to annul 
the contract awarded to Golden 
Horse Investments Limited (GHIL) 
was within the ambit of regulations 
127 (9) and 123 (4) of the PPR.

Concluded

7. Zambia Airports 
Corporation Limited 
(ZACL)

Appeal on the tender for the hire of 
staff transport Tender No. ZACL/
RFP/T/14/2020

The appeal was dismissed because 
the evaluation by ZACL was 
conducted in line with the SD and 
the provisions of the PPA and PPR. 
The PE was therefore, advised 
to proceed with the procurement 
proceedings for the tender

Concluded

8. Mulonga Water Sup-
ply and Sanitation 
Company Limited

Appeal on the tender for the 
rehabilitation, upgrade and 
extension of water and sewerage 
networks in Chingola (ZWS2/C1XD/
W/002/L/1).

Directed to re-evaluate the tender 
and ensure that the evaluation 
complies with section 66 (5) of 
the PPA, Regulation 68 (3) (c ) of 
the PPR, ITB 29.2 (b) of the SD 
and Clause 3.7.12 of the Guide to 
procurement for projects financed 
by the European Investment Bank 
(EIB)

Concluded

9. Zambia Information 
and Communications 
Technology Authority

Appeal against award of the 
tender for the supply, delivery, 
installation, configuration, testing 
and commissioning of Integrated 
Radio Spectrum Monitoring and 
Management System.

GEW Technologies (PTY) Limited 
(the appellant) withdrew the appeal 
with ZICTA 

 Concluded 
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S/N Procuring Entity Appeal/Complaint Decision Status
10. Zambia Information 

and Communications 
Technology Authority

Appeal against award of the 
tender for the supply, delivery, 
installation, configuration, testing 
and commissioning of Integrated 
Radio Spectrum Monitoring and 
Management System.

The AC dismissed the appeal by 
TCI International Inc, pursuant to 
section 100 (5) (a) of the PPA. 
Further, ZICTA was advised to 
continue with the procurement 
proceedings.

Concluded

11 Electoral Commis-
sion of Zambia

Appeal on the tender for the supply, 
installation and commission of the 
fire suppression system at Severest 
Warehouse.

The appeal was upheld in part, in 
respect of appeal ground No. 1 
pursuant to section 100(5)(a) of the 
PPA.

Further, ECZ was advised to 
proceed with the tender process in 
a lawful manner by ensuring that 
the re-evaluation process is done 
in accordance with the SD, PPA and 
PPR.

Concluded 

12 National Health Insur-
ance Management 
Authority

Tender for the design and 
installation of Local and Wide Area 
Network Solution to the National 
Health Insurance Management 
Authority (NHI/OBN/W/1/2021).

On-going as at 
31st December, 
2021.

13 Nkana Water and 
Sanitation Company 
Limited

 Appeal on the tender for the supply 
and delivery of sewer pipes.

- On – going as 
at 31st Decem-
ber, 2021.

14 Lusaka Water Supply 
and Sanitation Com-
pany Limited

 Tender for the provision of external 
audit and tax services for the 
financial years 2021 to 2023.

- On – going as 
at 31st Decem-
ber, 2021

Appendix 7: Investigations Conducted in 2021

S/N Procuring 
Entity 

Complaint Decision Status

1 Disaster 
Management 
and Mitigation 
Unit (DMMU)

Complaint to consider immediately 
stopping irregularities and 
unprofessional manner of procurement 
of goods, services and works and bring 
back professionalism and transparency 
at the Office of the Vice President, 
DMMU.

Procurement audit be undertaken by 
the Procurement and Performance 
Audit Unit under Compliance 
Monitoring Department to have 
a comprehensive review of all 
procurement activities conducted at 
DMMU.

 Concluded.

2 Ministry of 
Health

Recommendation for appropriate action 
to be taken against two suppliers for 
alleged collusion when participating in 
a procurement process for the tender 
relating to the supply and delivery of 
commodities and supplies for Corona 
Virus preparedness.

Recommendation for appropriate action 
to be taken against three suppliers 
for alleged collusion by the bidders in 
participating in the tender for supply and 
delivery of 100 digital BP machines.

The Authority has engaged the 
Zambia Police Service to provide 
a handwriting expert to analyse 
the quotations submitted by the 
three bidders in the procurement of 
supplies to support the response 
towards COVID-19 at the Ministry 
of Health prior to finalisation of the 
investigation.

On-going.

3 Ministry of 
Health

Recommendation for disciplinary action 
against alleged collusion by the bidders.

It was determined that the 
recommendation by Ministry of 
Health for disciplinary action or for 
the debarment of bidders due to 
collusion could not be substantiated 
and was therefore dismissed.

Concluded.
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S/N Procuring 
Entity 

Complaint Decision Status

4 National 
Pension 
Scheme 
Authority 
(NAPSA)

Alleged construction of a wall fence 
and swimming pool at NAPSA stars 
house in Lusaka by a contractor without 
authority.

Advised to handle the matter 
administratively because there was 
insufficient evidence for invoking 
Section 66 of the PPA on the 
contractor and the recommendation 
by NAPSA was not premised on 
any of the grounds provided in the 
section.

Concluded.

5 Zambia 
Railways 
Limited

Abuse of office by Zambia Railways 
Limited and Ministry of Transport.

The procurement process was not 
in line with regulations 113 of the 
PPR and award of the contract was 
not approved by the appropriate 
approvals Authority contrary to 
section 52 (2) of the PPA. With 
regards to the abuse of office, the 
report was shared with the Anti-
Corruption Commission (ACC).

Concluded.

6 ZESCO Limited Alleged non- performance of contractual 
obligations by Global Seals Zambia 
Limited on the contract for the overhaul 
of four (4) generator water cooling 
strainers at the Kafue Gorge Power 
Station

Global Seals Zambia Limited was 
suspended from participating in 
public procurement for the period of 
two years in line with Section 96 (g) 
of the PPA.

Concluded.

7 Ministry of 
Fisheries and 
Livestock

Alleged failure to execute contractual 
obligations on the contract for the 
construction of one Livestock Service 
Centre in Isoka District of Muchinga 
Province- MAL/LISP/W/02/15

Vglux Resources Corporation Limited 
was suspended for a period of one-
year effective 20th December, 2021.

Concluded.

8 Ministry of 
Transport and 

Procurement of laptops that did not 
meet set standards and were returned to 
the supplier after being paid the contract 
price of K30, 990.00.

The Authority resolved that under 
performance by the supplier in the 
execution of the contract with MTC 
could not be established because 
the Ministry accepted the goods 
delivered in line with regulation 148 
of the PPR. Therefore, the Authority 
could not recommend the invocation 
of section 96 (g) of the PPA.

Concluded.

9 Zambia 
Revenue 
Authority

Investigations into the alleged 
misrepresentation of information by a 
supplier

- On-going as at 
31st December, 
2021.

10 Disaster 
Management 
and Mitigation 
Unit

Investigations into the alleged failure to 
execute contractual obligation on the 
contract for the supply and delivery of 
IBR Corrugated Roofing Sheets OVP/
DMMU/OPS/01/2019-1.

-
On-going as at 
31st December, 
2021.

11 Zambia Credit 
Guarantee 
Scheme 
Limited

Investigation into the alleged failure 
to execute contractual obligation 
on the contracts for the design and 
development of an integrated enterprise 
resource system.

- On-going as at 
31st December, 
2021

12 Kaoma Town 
Council

Investigations into the alleged illegal 
termination of contract No. KTC/PU/
KAL.CUL/PPCR/2020 for construction 
of a culvert bridge at Kalumbelo.

- On-going as at 
31st December, 
2021.
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Appendix 8: Contracts Monitored in 2021

S/N
Contract Name Project Location

Name of Procuring 
Entity/Client Contract Amount

1 Contract for Construction of Mongu 
District Hospital Phase III

Mongu, Western Province Ministry of Health K13, 582, 430.72

2 Construction of Limulunga Day 
Secondary School

Limulunga District, Western 
Province

Ministry of Education K56, 383,908.09

3 Construction of Limulunga District 
Hospital

Limulunga District, Western 
Province

Ministry of Health K12, 444, 527.27

4 Construction of Post Office and 
associated external works

Limulunga District, Western 
Province

Ministry of Housing 
and Infrastructure 
Development

K6,015,001.65

5 Construction of District 
Administration Office Block

Limulunga District, Western 
Province

Ministry of Housing 
and Infrastructure 
Development

Not availed

6 Construction of Council 
Administration Office Block and 2No. 
High-Cost Houses and associated 
external works

Limulunga District, Western 
Province

Ministry of Housing 
and Infrastructure 
Development

K11,191,167.28

7 Construction of 10No. Medium Cost 
Houses with associated external 
works 

Limulunga District, Western 
Province

Ministry of Housing 
and Infrastructure 
Development

8 Construction of 20No. Low-Cost 
Houses 

Limulunga District, Western 
Province

Ministry of Housing 
and Infrastructure 
Development

K10,410,362.00

9 Construction of Police Station, 2No. 
Medium Cost Houses and 8No. Low-
Cost Houses 

Luampa District, Western 
Province

Ministry of Housing 
and Infrastructure 
Development

Not availed

10 Construction of 20No. Low-Cost 
Houses 

Luampa District, Western 
Province

Ministry of Housing 
and Infrastructure 
Development

K12,722,437.85

11 Construction of District 
Administration Office Block 

Luampa District, Western 
Province

Ministry of Housing 
and Infrastructure 
Development

K11,191,167.28

12 Construction of 10No. Medium Cost 
Houses 

Luampa District, Western 
Province

Ministry of Housing 
and Infrastructure 
Development

K7,266,090.20

13 Construction of Council 
Administration Office Block and 2No. 
High-Cost Houses 

Luampa District, Western 
Province

Ministry of Housing 
and Infrastructure 
Development

K5,678,348.69

14
Construction of Post Office 

Luampa District, Western 
Province

Ministry of Housing 
and Infrastructure 
Development

Not availed

15 Construction of Post Office Nkeyema District, Western 
Province

Ministry of Housing 
and Infrastructure 
Development

K3,393,004.60
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S/N
Contract Name Project Location

Name of Procuring 
Entity/Client Contract Amount

16 Construction of 20No. Low-Cost 
Houses 

Nkeyema District, Western 
Province

Ministry of Housing 
and Infrastructure 
Development

K8,703,048.00

17 Construction of 10No. Medium Cost 
Houses 

Nkeyema District, Western 
Province

Ministry of Housing 
and Infrastructure 
Development

K3,124,794.27

18 Construction of Council 
Administration Office Block and 2No. 
High-Cost Houses 

Nkeyema District, Western 
Province

Ministry of Housing 
and Infrastructure 
Development

K10,410,362.00

19 Construction of District 
Administration Office Block

Nkeyema District, Western 
Province

Ministry of Housing 
and Infrastructure 
Development

K7,414,711.00

20 Construction of Police Station, 2No. 
Medium Cost Houses and 8No. Low-
Cost Houses 

Nkeyema District, Western 
Province

Ministry of Housing 
and Infrastructure 
Development

K14,959,835.00

SN Contract Name Project Location
Name of Procuring Entity/
Client Contract Amount 

21 Construction of ten (10) 
Medium Cost Houses and 
associated external works 

Vubwi, Eastern Province Ministry of Infrastructure, 
Housing and Urban 
Development

K13,243,620.24

22 Construction of District 
Council Offices, two (2) 
High-Cost Houses and 
associated external works

Vubwi, Eastern Province Ministry of Infrastructure, 
Housing and Urban 
Development

K8,973,328.48

23 Construction of twenty 
(20) Low-Cost Houses and 
associated external works 

Vubwi, Eastern Province Ministry of Infrastructure, 
Housing and Urban 
Development

K20,293,245.51

24 Construction of District 
Administration Office Block 
and associated external 
work 

Nyimba, Eastern Province Ministry of Infrastructure, 
Housing and Urban 
Development

K7,102,983.92

25 Construction of ten (10) 
Medium Cost Houses and 
associated external works 

Nyimba, Eastern Province Ministry of Infrastructure, 
Housing and Urban 
Development

K6,875,534.83

26 Construction of District 
Council Offices, two (2) 
High-Cost Houses and 
associated external works 

Nyimba, Eastern Province Ministry of Infrastructure, 
Housing and Urban 
Development

K7,102,983.92

27 Construction of twenty 
(20) Low-Cost Houses and 
associated external works 

Nyimba, Eastern Province Ministry of Infrastructure, 
Housing and Urban 
Development

K10,961,721.24

28 Construction of twenty 
(20) Low-Cost Houses and 
associated external works 

Sinda, Eastern Province Ministry of Infrastructure, 
Housing and Urban 
Development

K19, 863,863.13

29 Construction of District 
Administration Office Block 
and associated external 
works 

Sinda, Eastern Province Ministry of Infrastructure, 
Housing and Urban 
Development

K6,340,717.76
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30 Construction of District 
Council offices, two (2) High-
Cost Houses and associated 
external works 

Sinda, Eastern Province Ministry of Infrastructure, 
Housing and Urban 
Development

K5,455,537.25 

31 Construction of (10) No. 
Medium Cost Houses and 
associated external works 

Sinda, Eastern Province Ministry of Infrastructure, 
Housing and Urban 
Development

K7,727,335.78

32 Construction of Lundazi 
Trade Training Institute

Lundazi, Eastern Province Ministry of Infrastructure, 
Housing and Urban 
Development

K34,783,312.00

33 Construction of Police 
Station, 2 No. Medium 
Houses, 8 No. Low-Cost 
Houses, 

Ngabwe District, Central 
Province

Ministry of Infrastructure, 
Housing and Urban 
Development

K14,673,995.36

34 Construction of 10 Medium 
Cost Houses & Associated 
External Works

Ngabwe District, Central 
Province

Ministry of Infrastructure, 
Housing and Urban 
Development

K6,819,526.32

35 Construction of District 
Administration Block

Ngabwe District, Central 
Province

Ministry of Infrastructure, 
Housing and Urban 
Development

K4,047,806.08

36 Construction of 20 No. Low-
Cost Houses & Associated 
External Works, 

Mpongwe District, Central 
Province

Ministry of Infrastructure, 
Housing and Urban 
Development

K8,840,915.55

37 Construction of Police 
Station, 2 No. Medium 
Houses, 8 No. Low-Cost 
Houses

Chisamba District, Central 
Province

Ministry of Infrastructure, 
Housing and Urban 
Development

K14,440,330.76

38 Construction of 20 No. Low-
Cost Houses & Associated 
External Works

Chisamba District, Central 
Province

Ministry of Infrastructure, 
Housing and Urban 
Development

K7,975,378.97

SN Contract Name Project Location 
Name of Procuring Entity/
Client Contract Amount

39 Construction of Police 
Station and 2No. Medium 
Houses, 8 Low-Cost Houses 

Mpongwe District, Central 
Province

Ministry of Infrastructure 
Housing and Urban 
Development

K13,595,889.04

40 Construction of Post Office 
and associated external 
works 

Mpongwe District, Central 
Province

Ministry of Infrastructure 
Housing and Urban 
Development

K 4,350, 676.28 

41 Construction of Multi-
Purpose Hall at Bothwell 
prisons 

Kabwe District, Central 
Province

Ministry of Infrastructure 
Housing and Urban 
Development - Zambia 
Correctional Services

K4,442,115.89

42 Construction of a Boundary 
wall fence at correctional 
services 

Kabwe District, Central 
Province

Ministry of Infrastructure 
Housing and Urban 
Development

K520,423.56

43 Construction of District 
Administration Block 

Chisamba District, Central 
Province

Ministry of Infrastructure 
Housing and Urban 
Development

K5,657,175.81

44 Construction of Post Office 
and associated external 
works 

Chisamba District, Central 
Province

Ministry of Infrastructure 
Housing and Urban 
Development

K2,131,891.52

45 Construction of Council 
Administration Office Block 
and 2 High-Cost Houses and 
associated external works 

Chisamba District, Central 
Province

Ministry of Infrastructure 
Housing and Urban 
Development

K6, 235,586.96

46 Construction of ten (10) 
Medium Cost Houses and 
associated external works 

Chisamba District, Central 
Province

Ministry of Infrastructure 
Housing and Urban 
Development

K5,576,861.84
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Appendix 9: Facilitation at Stakeholder Organized Workshops

S/N Name of Institution
Title of Training 
Provided Target Group

Number of 
Participants

1 Drug Enforcement Commis-
sion 

Public procurement 
procedures

Regional Commanders and Senior 
officers

45

2 Zambia Association of Man-
ufacturers 

Preference and Reser-
vation Schemes

Stakeholders in Manufacturing 
sector 

150

3 RTSA Sensitization on the 
new PPA of 2020

RTSA Senior Management 46

4 Ministry of Foreign Affairs Tender procedures 
and use of e-Procure-
ment (e-GP)

Ambassadors from Missions Abroad 
and representatives from public and 
private Institutions.

59

5 ZIPS Southern Chapter Public procurement 
procedures in relation 
to the new PPA of 2020

Stakeholders and Procurement Spe-
cialists

470

6 Ministry of Community De-
velopment and Social Ser-
vices

Sensitization on the 
PPA of 2020, procure-
ment procedures and 
e-GP Training

Members of staff and representa-
tives of Co-operating partners (donor 
funded projects)

20

7 Rural Electrification Author-
ity 

Highlights of the PPA 
of 2020 and Bid prepa-
ration.

Suppliers and Contractors of REA and 
other stakeholders

42

8 Ministry of Local Govt and 
Rural Development

Orientation training 
for newly elected Civic 
Leaders. (Mayors, D/
Mayors and Council-
ors)

Newly elected Civic Leaders (Mayors, 
D/Mayors and Councilors)

2,875

9 ZESCO Limited Transparency, Ac-
countability and fraud/
corruption in public 
procurement

ZESCO Senior Management 25

Total 3,732

Appendix 10: ZPPA Tailor Made Capacity Building Workshops  

S/N Institution Title of Training provided Target Group Number of 
Participants

1 PIA Public procurement proce-
dures

Procurement Committee members and 
Staff

14

2 RTSA Public procurement proce-
dures

Members of Staff involved in bid 
evaluation

8

3 Solwezi Gen Hospital Public procurement proce-
dures

Procurement Committee members and 
Staff

14

4 National Health 
Insurance Manage-
ment Agency 

Public procurement proce-
dures

members of Staff 44

5 Ministry of Fisheries 
and Livestock

Public procurement proce-
dures

Procurement Committee members and 
Staff

22

6 Cancer Diseases 
Hospital 

Public Procurement proce-
dures

Procurement Committee members and 
Staff

13

7 Central Province 
Provincial Adminis-
tration

Sensitisation on the new 
PPA of 2020 to Provincial 
Centres (Virtual)

Controlling Officer, Heads of Depart-
ment and staff members

18

8 Zambia Tourism 
Agency

Public procurement proce-
dures (Virtual)

Procurement Committee members 10

9 Zambia Police 
Service

Sensitisation on the new 
PPA of 2020 to Provincial 
Centres

Procurement Committee members 14
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10 North-western 
Province Provincial 
Administration

Sensitisation on the new 
PPA of 2020 to Provincial 
Centres (Virtual)

Procurement Committee members 9

11 ZAMRA Public procurement proce-
dures

Procurement Committee members and 
staff

22

12 Business Regulation 
Review Agency

Public procurement proce-
dures

Procurement Committee members 14

13 Solwezi Municipal 
Council

Public procurement proce-
dures

Procurement Committee members and 
staff

26

14 Office of Public 
Protector

Public procurement proce-
dures

Procurement Committee members and 
staff

20

Total 248

Appendix 11:  Tenders published on the e-GP System

No. Procuring Entity
Lim

ited N
ational 

Selection 

O
pen International 

Selection 

Direct Bidding 

Lim
ited N

ational 
Bidding 

Lim
ited International 

Bidding

O
pen International 

Bidding 

O
pen N

ational 
Bidding 

O
pen N

ational 
Selection

Sim
plified

 Bidding

Total

Anti-Corruption Commission  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 5 5
Bank of Zambia 2 1 6 5 28  - 23 65
Chambeshi Water Supply and 
Sanitation Company Limited - - 2  - - -  - 1 3 5
Chipata District Health Office - - - - - - - - 10 10
Eastern Province Provincial 
Administration - - -  - - -  -  - 1 1
Eastern Provincial Health Office - - - - - - 2 - 2
Eastern Water and Sewerage 
Company Limited - - - - - - - - 2 2
Electoral Commission of Zambia - - - - - - - - 7 7
Food Reserve Agency - - - - - - - - 2 2
General Nursing Council of 
Zambia - - 2 - - - - - 1 3
Higher Education Authority - - - - - - 1  - 3 4
Higher Education Loans and 
Scholarships Board - - - - - - - - 5 5
Indeni Petroleum Refinery 
Company Limited - - 8 1  11 - 13  - 289 322
Industrial Development 
Corporation - - - - - - - - 1 1
Kafubu Water and Sewerage 
Company Ltd - - - - - - - - 4 4
Kawambwa Town Council - - 1 - - - - - 68 68
Kitwe City Council 1 1
Lewanika General Hospital  -  - - - - - - - 1 1
Livingstone District Health Office - - - - - - - - 1 1
Local Authorities Superannuation 
Fund - - - - - - - - 6 6
Luanshya Municipal Council 2 2
Lusaka City Council 2 2
Lusaka Provincial Health Office - - - - - - - - 7 7
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Ministry of Agriculture 2 2
Ministry of Energy  - 1 2 - - -  1  1 94 99
Ministry of Finance 5 - - - 1 - - - 16 22
Ministry of Gender 1 - 1 - 2
Ministry of General Education - - - - - 1 1 - 4 6
Ministry of Health           6 16 -   22
Ministry of Higher Education - - - - -  - 1 - 3 4
Ministry of National Development 
Planning

- - - - -
1 3

-
- 4

Ministry of Transport and 
Communications

- - -
1     - 1

-
 - 2

Ministry of Works and Supply  - 1 - - - - - - - 1
Misenge Environmental and 
Technical Services Limited

- - - - - - 1 -
24 25

Mpulungu Harbour Corporation 
Limited

1
1

Muchinga Provincial 
Administration

- - - - -
1 14  - 37 52

Mufumbwe Town Council 2 2
Mulungushi Village Complex 
Limited

- - -
- - - 1 1

National Institute of Public 
Administration

- - - - - -
3  - 5 8

National Pension Scheme 
Authority  -  1 17  3 13 2 20  2 28 86
National Road Fund Agency - - 11 - - - 2  - 24 37
National Savings and Credit Bank - - - - - - - - 1 1
Ndola City Council - - - - - - 27 - 24 51
Nkana Water and Sewerage 
Company

- - - - - -
8

-
16 24

Northern Province Provincial 
Administration 1 1
Office of The Auditor General - - - - - - - - 6 5
Patents and Companies 
Registration Agency

- -
9

- - - - -
50 59

Pensions and Insurance Authority  1   8 - - - 1 - 46 56
Provincial Administration Luapula 
Province - -

- -
1 1

Road Development Agency - - - - - - 1 -   1
Road Transport and Safety 
Agency

- - - 1 - -
6

-
4  11

Rural Electrification Authority - - - - - 1 6 - 39 46

The University of Zambia
- - - - - -

6
-

7
       

13
Western Water Supply and 
Sanitation Company Limited

- - - - - -
-

-
4 4

Workers Compensation Fund 
Control Board

- - - - -
 1 22 1 8 32

Zambia Agency for Persons with 
Persons with Disabilities

- - -
1

- - - 5
6

Zambia Flying Doctor Services - - - - - - 1 - - 1
Zambia Information and 
Communications Technology 
Authority

- -

1

- - -

40

-

17 58
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Zambia Institute of Advanced 
Legal Education 5 5

59. Zambia Medicines and Medical 
Supplies Limited - - 1

- -
- -

-
1 2

Zambia National Building Society 1  -  - - - - 4 -   5
Zambia Postal Services 
Corporation 0  -  -

- - -
-

-
6  6

Zambia Public Procurement 
Authority

- -
46

- - -
4

-
143 193

Zambia Qualifications Authority - - - - -  1   - 18 19
Zambia Revenue Authority - - - 1 - 5 38 - 1 45
Zambia Telecommunications 
Company Limited

- - -
1 7 2 42

1
591 643

ZCCM Investments Holdings Plc  6 1 1 - - 3 8 - 4 23
Grand Total 15 5 114 16 37 24 326 6 1663 2,213

Appendix 12: PEs Trained and Added to the e-GP System for full usage

2021
1. Cabinet Office High
2. National Institute for Public Administration Medium
3. National Savings and Credit Bank High
4. Kawambwa Town Council Low

5. ZCCM-IH Investments Holdings High
6. Zambia Bureau of Standards High
7. Mulungushi University High
8. Kwame Nkrumah University High
9. Road Transport and Safety Agency High
10. Lusaka Water Supply and Sanitation Company Limited High
11. Office of the Auditor General Medium
12. Provincial Administration Central Province Medium
13. Patents and Companies Registration Agency Medium
14. Lukanga Water Supply and Sanitation Company Medium
15. Luanshya Municipal Council High
16. Kalulushi Municipal Council High
17. Zambia Forest and Forestry Industries Corporation High
18. Chililabombwe Municipal Council High
19. Mulonga Water and Sanitation Company High
20. Industrial development Corporation High
21. Misenge Environmental and Technical Services High
22. Higher Education Loans and Scholarship Board High
23. Ministry of Youth, Sport and Child Development High
24. Ministry of Gender High
25. Zambia Flying Doctors Services High
26. Civil Service Commission Medium
27. Chipata College of Education Medium
28. Chipata Trades Training Institute Medium
29. Lusaka Provincial Health Office Medium
30. Katete District Health Office (Second Training) Low
31. Chipata Central Hospital (Second Training) Low
32. Anti-Corruption Commission High
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2021
33. Zambia Institute of Advanced Legal Education Medium
34. Ministry of Community Development and Social Services High
35. Ministry of Commerce, Trade and Industry High
36. Kabwe General Hospital Medium
37. Office of the President, Provincial Administration, North Western Province High
38. Solwezi Municipal Council, High
39. Chinsali Town Council Medium
40. Ministry of Commerce, Trade and Industry High
41. Ministry of Foreign Affairs High
42. Ministry of Home Affairs High
43. Luanshya Municipal Council High
44. Ministry of Lands and Natural Resources High
45. Ministry of Justice High
46. Provincial Education Office, North Western Province Medium
47. Kapasa Makasa University Medium
48. Business Regulatory Review Agency Medium
49. North Western Water and Sanitation Company Limited Medium
50. Solwezi College of Education Medium
51. Zambia Daily Mail Medium
52. Evelyn Hone College Management Board Medium
53. Kalumbila Town Council Medium
54. Mufumbwe Town Council, Medium
55. Zambia Education Publishing House (ZEPH) Medium
56. Solwezi College of Nursing and Midwifery Medium
57. Provincial Health Office North Western Province Medium
58. Technical Education, Vocational and Entrepreneurship Training Authority (TEVETA) Medium
59. Human Rights Commission Medium
60. Health Professionals Council of Zambia Medium
61. Zambia Institute of Advanced legal Education Medium
62. Chilonga Mission General Hospital Medium

Appendix 13: Registration for Annual Procurement Plan (APP)/ Uploads and 		   			 
    Notices (ZPPA Circular 3 of 2019)

The PEs that uploaded Annual Procurement Plans on the e-GP System in 2021 were as shown in the following 
table.

1st Quarter 2021

1. Zambia Public Procurement Authority
2. Zambia Information Communications Technology Authority
3. Ministry of General Education
4. Ministry of Health
5. Ndola City Council
6. Workers Compensation Fund Control Board
7. Pensions Insurance Authority
8. Public Service Microfinance Limited
9. Rural Electrification Authority
10. Zambia Qualifications Authority
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1st Quarter 2021

11. National Pensions Scheme Authority
12. Zambia Telecommunications Company Limited
13. Zambia Revenue Authority
14. Ministry of Health
15. Ndola City Council
16. Muchinga Provincial Administration
17. Zambia Public Procurement Authority
18. Zambia Information Communications Technology Authority
19. Zambia Institute of Advanced Legal Education
20. Ministry of Chiefs and Traditional Affairs
21. Ministry of Foreign Affairs
22. Ministry of Commerce Trade and Industry
23. Radiation Protection Authority
24. Food Reserve Agency
25. Mukuba University
26. Nakonde Town Council
27. National Council for Construction
28. Zambia Agency for Persons With Disabilities
29. Sioma Town Council
30. Senanga Town Council
31. Mongu Catholic College of Education
32. Nalolo Town Council
33. Mongu Municipal Council
34. Western Water Supply and Sanitation Company Limited
35. The University of Zambia
36. University Teaching Hospital – Children Hospital
37. Provincial Administration – Western Province
38. Local Government Service Commission
39. Kaoma Trades Training Institute
40. Competition and Consumer Protection Commission
41. Kabompo Town Council
42. Manyinga Town Council
43. Mwansabombwe Town Council
44. Occupational Health and Safety Institute
45. Ikelenge Town Council
46. Mushindamo Town Council
47. Solwezi School of Nursing and Midwifery
48. Solwezi Municipal Council
49. Solwezi College of Education
50. Lusaka Provincial Health Office
51. Higher Education Loans and Scholarships Board
52. Ministry of Gender
53. Civil Service Commission
54. Anti- Corruption Commission
55. Choma Municipal Council
56. Road Transport and Safety Agency
57. Kwame Nkrumah University
58. Mulungushi Village Complex
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1st Quarter 2021

59. National Health Insurance Management Authority
60. Zambia Centre for Accountancy Studies
61. Kapiri Mposhi Town Council
62. Industrial Development Corporation
63. Ministry of Information and Broadcasting Services
64. North Western Water Supply and Sanitation Company Limited
65. Chililabombwe Town Council
66. Mpulungu Harbour Corporation Limited
67. Infratel Corporation Limited
68. Ministry of National Development Planning
69. Human Rights Commission
70. University Teaching Hospital – Eye Hospital
71. Technical Vocational and Entrepreneurship Training Authority
72. Cabinet Office
73. Patents and Companies Registration Agency
74. Zambia Flying Doctor Service
75. Kawambwa Town Council
76. National Institute for Public Administration
77. Misenge Environmental and Technical Services Ltd
78. Lusaka City Council
79. Zambia Institute of Advanced Legal Education
80. Higher Education Authority
81. Kalumbila Town Council
82. Choma College of Nursing and Midwifery
83. Eastern Provincial Health Office
84. Chipata Central Hospital
85. Petauke District Health Office
86. Water Resources and Management Authority
87. Lusaka South Multi Facility and Economic Zone
88. Ministry of Community Development and Social Services
89. Zambia Metrology Agency
90. Mukuba University
91. General Nursing Council
92. Nitrogen Chemicals of Zambia
93. Nkana Water Supply and Sanitation Company Limited
94. Kitwe City Council
95. The Copperbelt University
96. Indeni Petroleum Refinery Company Limited
97. Zambia Environmental Management Agency
98. Local Authorities Superannuation Fund
99. Mwinilunga Town Council
100. Electoral Commission of Zambia
101. Provincial Administration - Lusaka
102. Zambia Airports Corporation Limited

103. General Nursing Council of Zambia

104. Mukuba University

105. National Assembly

106. Zambia Metrology Agency
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1st Quarter 2021

107. Ministry of Community Development and Social Services

108. Livingstone Central Hospital

109. Lusaka South Multi Facility Economic Zone

110. Water Resources Management Authority

111. Petauke District Health Office

112. Chipata District Health Office

113. Chipata Central Hospital

114. Eastern Provincial Health Office

115. Choma College of Nursing and Midwifery

116. Higher Education Authority

117. Zambia Institute of Advanced Legal Education

118. The University of Zambia

119. Zambia Postal Services Corporation

120. Misenge Environmental and Technical Services Ltd

121. National Institute of Public Administration

122. Lusaka Water Supply and Sanitation Company Limited

123. Kawambwa Town Council

124. Zambia Flying Doctor Service

125. Patents and Companies Registration Agency

126. Technical Education Vocational and Entrepreneurship Training Authority

127. University Teaching Hospitals - Eye Hospital

128. Human Rights Commission

129. Ministry of National Development Planning

130. Infratel Corporation Limited

132. Mpulungu Harbour Corporation Limited

133. Chililabombwe Municipal Council

134. North Western Water Supply and Sanitation Company Limited

135. Industrial Development Corporation

136. Kapiri Mposhi Town Council

137. Zambia Centre For Accountancy Studies

138. National Health Insurance Management Authority

139. Mulungushi Village Complex Limited

140. Kalulushi Municipal Council

141. Kwame Nkrumah University

142. Provincial Administration - Central Province

143. Road Transport and Safety Agency

144. Cabinet Office

145. Anti-Corruption Commission

146. Ministry of Gender

147. Higher Education Loans and Scholarships Board

148. Lusaka Provincial Health Office

149. University Teaching Hospital - Children Hospital

150. Zambia Airports Corporation Limited

151. Zambia National Building Society

152. National Science and Technology Council

153. David Livingstone College of Education

154. Industrial Training Center

155. Zambia Bureau of Standards
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1st Quarter 2021

156. St. Mawaggali Trades Training Institute

157. Kasama General Hospital

158. Mulungushi Village Complex Limited

159. Competition and Consumer Protection Commission

160. Kapasa Makasa University

161. Superior Milling Company Limited

162. Kawambwa Tea Industries Limited

163. Ministry of Information and Media

164. Charles Lwanga College of Education

165. Chipili Town Council

167. Higher Education Loans and Scholarships Boards

168. Zambia Information Communication Technology Authority

169. Zambia Revenue Authority

170. National Pension Scheme Authority

171 Ministry of Foreign Affairs

172. Chinsali Municipal Council

173. Rural Electrification Authority

174. National Housing Authority

175. Office of the Auditor General

176. Northern Province Provincial Administration

177. Livingstone Central Hospital

178. Eastern Province Provincial Health Office

179. Office of the President, Provincial Administration, North Western Province

180. Solwezi Municipal Council, 

181. Chinsali Town Council

182. Ministry of Commerce, Trade and Industry

183. Ministry of Foreign Affairs

184. Ministry of Home Affairs

185. Luanshya Municipal Council

186. Ministry of Lands and Natural Resources

187. Ministry of Justice

188. Provincial Education Office, North Western Province

189. Kapasa Makasa University

190. Business Regulatory Review Agency

191. North Western Water and Sanitation Company Limited

192. Solwezi College of Education

193. Zambia Daily Mail

194. Evelyn Hone College Management Board

195. Kalumbila Town Council

196. Mufumbwe Town Council,

197. Zambia Education Publishing House (ZEPH)

198 Solwezi College of Nursing and Midwifery

199. Provincial Health Office North Western Province

200. Technical Education, Vocational and Entrepreneurship Training Authority (TEVETA)

201. Human Rights Commission

202. Health Professionals Council of Zambia

203. Zambia Institute of Advanced legal Education

204. Chilonga Mission General Hospital
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GENERAL INFORMATION 

Country of Incorporation			   Zambia

Nature of Business		  	 Zambia Public Procurement Authority (ZPPA/the Authority) was 
initially established under the Zambia National Tender Board 
Act Chapter 394 of the Laws of Zambia of 1982. In 2008, the 
Public Procurement Act was enacted and the Zambia Nation-
al Tender Board was renamed as Zambia Public Procurement 
Authority. In 2020, the Public Procurement Act No. 8 0f 2020 
repealed and replaced the 2008 Act. The Authority’s main ac-
tivity is the regulation of the procurement of goods, works and 
services for government and parastatal bodies. The Authority’s 
operations are financed through Government grants and other 
sources.

				  
Registered Office				    Procurement House

Stand No. 11790 Sub-J; Off Alick Nkhata Road
	 Longacres

							       Lusaka

Business Address	 Stand No. 11790 Sub-J; Off Alick Nkhata Road
	 Longacres
	 P.O. Box 31009
	 Lusaka

Postal address	 P.O. Box 31009
	 Lusaka

Bankers	 Absa Bank Plc
	 4644 Eluda Park
	 Corner of Tito Road and Addis Ababa Drive
	 P.O. Box 31936
	 Lusaka

	 Micro Finance Zambia Limited
	 Head Office
	 2nd & 3rd floors Chanik House, Cairo Road	
	 P.O. Box 31060
	 Lusaka
	
	 Standard Chartered Bank Plc
	 Northend Branch, Cairo Road
	 P.O. Box 32238
	 Lusaka

	 Zambia National Commercial Bank Plc
	 Cairo Road Branch, Cairo Road
	 P.O. Box 37932
	 Lusaka
	
	 Zambia Industrial Commercial Bank Limited
	 Central Park
	 Corner of Cairo and Church Roads
	 P.O. Box 30228
	 Lusaka

Auditors	 Office of the Auditor General
	 Zambia	
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STATEMENT OF THE RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS 
- 31 DECEMBER 2021
The Directors are required, in terms of the Public Procurement Act No. 8 of 2020, to maintain adequate account-
ing records and are responsible for the content and integrity of the financial statements and related financial in-
formation included in this report. It is their responsibility to ensure that the financial statements fairly present the 
state of affairs of the Authority as at the end of the financial year and the results of its operations and cash flows 
for the period then ended, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). The external 
auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the financial statements.

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with IFRSs and are based upon appropriate accounting 
policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates.

The Directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial controls 
established by the Authority and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. 
To enable the Authority to meet these responsibilities, the Board sets standards for internal controls aimed 
at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost-effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation of 
responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation 
of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored throughout the Authority and all 
employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the Authority's business is con-
ducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk management in 
the Authority is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the Author-
ity. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the Authority endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that 
appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within predeter-
mined procedures and constraints.

The Directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by Management that the sys-
tem of internal controls provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the prepa-
ration of the financial statements. However, any system of internal financial controls can provide only reasonable, 
and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Directors have reviewed the Authority's cash flow forecasts for the year ending 31st December 2022 and, in 
the light of this review and the current financial position, they are satisfied that the Authority has access to ade-
quate resources to continue in operational existence in the foreseeable future.

The external auditors are responsible for independently reviewing and reporting on the Authority's financial state-
ments. The financial statements have been examined by the Authority's external auditors and their report is 
presented on pages 7 to 9.

The financial statements set out on pages 10 to 31 which have been prepared on the going concern basis, were 
approved by the Board on...................................................... and were signed on its behalf by:

............................................................			   ............................................................
Richard M. Chizyuka					     Idah C. Chella (Mrs)
BOARDCHAIRMAN			                               DIRECTOR GENERAL
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT - 31 December 2021
Directors have the pleasure of submitting their financial report for the year ended 31 December 2021.

1.	 Principal Mandate

The mandate of the Authority is to regulate and monitor public procurement in Zambia in accordance with 
the Public Procurement Act No. 8 of 2020

2.	 Financial Results
The Authority’s results for the year were as follows: -	

	
                                                                                                            2021                                             2020	
	                                                                             	           K                                                     K	

	 Income	             100,329,221	           50,360,235
	 Total comprehensive surplus	                            50,276,577	                            9,080,615		

	
	 	
3.	 Property, Plant and Equipment

During the year under review, the Authority acquired property, plant and equipment at a cost of K1,512,657 
(2020: K261,557).

4.	 Employees

The average number of employees during the year was seventy-one (71), (2020 was 69) and their total 
remuneration was K39,410,178 (2020 was K34,939,371). 

5.	 Gifts and Donations
The Authority did not make any donations during the year (2020 was K0) 

6.	 Directors and Secretary

6.1	 The Directors and Secretary of the Board who served during the year under review were as follows: -

Name					     Position
Mr. Richard M. Chizyuka			   Chairman	
Mrs. Emmy S. Chenguluka			   Board Member
Mr. Joe Simachela				    Board Member
Mr George Mbasela			   Board Member
Mrs. Mumbi. Mwila			              	 Board Member
Mr. Paul Lupunga			               	 Board Member
Dr. Jones Kalyongwe			   Board Member
Dr. Edward Lusambo                                         Board Member
Mrs. Idah Chileshe Chella		              	 Director General 

         Ms. Mwaka Ndhlovu			   Secretary
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT - 31 DECEMBER 2021	

6.2 The Authority had the following Sub-committees whose members were:

Finance and Administration 
Ms. Mumbi Kandeke Mwila	
Mrs. Emmy S. Chenguluka
Mr Crispin Chilikwela
Mr. Joseph N. Ngulube
Mrs. Idah C. Chella (ex-officio)
Ms. Mwaka Ndhlovu - Secretary

Technical Committee		
Dr. Jones J. Kalyongwe
Mr. George Mbasela
Mr. Paul Lupunga
Eng. James Njolomba
Eng Kanyuka Mumba
Eng. Racheal Zimba
Mrs. Idah C. Chella (ex-officio)
Ms. Mwaka Ndhlovu - Secretary
Risk and Audit Committee
Mr. Joe Simachela 
Mrs. Rose G.K. Malila Phiri
Ms. Gertrude Musyani 
Mr. Hillard Kabole
Mr Moonga Mumba
Mrs. Idah C. Chella (ex- officio)
Ms. Mwaka Ndhlovu - Secretary

6.3	 Management of the Authority
	 The management of the Authority was as follows:
	 Mrs. Idah C. Chella			  -	 Director General
	 Mr Kelvin Shamizhinga		  -	 Director Human Resource and Administration 
	 Mr. Belia Mulenga			   -	 Director Finance 
	 Mrs. Vida Kamanya		  -	 Director Compliance Monitoring 
	 Mr Justin Matimuna		  -	 Director Research and Capacity Development 
	 Ms. Mwaka Ndhlovu		  -	 Board Secretary
	 Mr. Mathew Lusambo		  -	 Manager –Information and Communication Technology 
	 Mrs Emily Mwenda			  -	 Manager – Internal Audit 
	 Ms. Ethel Nunkwe			   -	 Manager – Electronic Government Procurement
	
7.	 Other Material Facts, Circumstances and Events

The directors are not aware of any material facts, circumstances or events which occurred between the ac-
counting date and the date of this report which might influence an assessment of the Authority’s financial 
position or the results of its operations.

8.	 Annual Financial Statements

The Annual Financial Statements are set out on pages 10 to 31.

9.	 Auditors

The Authority’s auditors, are Office of the Auditor General as per Public Procurement Act No. 8 of 2020.

By order of the Board:
	
	 …………………………………		       		  …………………………………
	 Mwaka Ndhlovu					     Date		
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	 BOARD SECRETARY

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 				  

STAND No.7951	
HAILE SELASSIE AVENUE, 
LONGACRES
P.O. BOX 50071
LUSAKA, ZAMBIA
E-mail: auditorg@ago.gov.zm
Website: www.ago.gov.zm
Telephone: +260252611/252771

To the Board – Zambia Public Procurement Authority

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
	
Opinion
  
I have audited the financial statements of the Zambia Public Procurement Authority, which comprise the State-
ment of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement 
of Cashflows for the financial year ended 31st December 2021 and notes to the financial statements including a 
summary of significant accounting policies as set out on pages 10 to 31. 

In my opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of the Zambia Public Procurement Authority as at 31st December 2021, in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the Public Procurement Act No. 8 of 2020. 

Basis for Opinion   

I conducted my audit in accordance with International Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions (ISSAIs). My 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Financial Statements section of my report. I am independent of the Zambia Public Procurement Authority in 
accordance with the International Organization of Supreme Audit Institutions (INTOSAI) Code of Ethics togeth-
er with the ethical requirements that are relevant to my audit of the financial statements in Zambia, and I have 
fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the INTOSAI Code. I believe 
that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. 

Key Audit Matters
  
Key Audit Matters of the audit are those matters that, in my professional judgment, were of most significance in 
my audit of the financial statements of the current period. 

However, I have determined that there were no key audit matters to communicate in my report. 
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Responsibilities of Management and those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal controls as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.  

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISSAIs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.  

As part of an audit in accordance with ISSAIs, I exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skep-
ticism throughout the audit. I also:  

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material mis-
statement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. 

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effective-
ness of the Authority’s internal controls. 

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting esti-
mates and related disclosures made by management. 

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the dis-
closures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation. 

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that 
I identify during my audit. I also provide those charged with governance with a statement that I have complied 
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on my independence, and where applicable related safeguards.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In my opinion, the Financial Statements of the Zambia Public Procurement Authority have been properly prepared 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and the requirements of the Public Pro-
curement Act, No. 8 of 2020. 

Mr. Francis Mbewe
ACTING AUDITOR GENERAL 					   
OFFICE OF THE AUDITOR GENERAL	                      DATE………………….2022
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
			 
	            	             						           2021                                     2020	
	                                  					                K                                            K
	   				        Note                 	             
	

Income                                                             	 6	 100,329,221                      	    50,360,235
                      	
	
Administrative costs                                       	  7 	                    (51,569,717)                        (42,545,574)                         

Other operating costs	                                             8                           (877,796)                              (772,576)

Total expenditure		                      (52,447,513)                        (43,318,150)	

                      
Operating surplus)	                                                                             47,881,708	                              7,042,085

Net financing income			           9	                          2,394,869			  2,038,530
	
Total comprehensive (loss)/surplus		                        50,276,577	                            9,080,615	
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021

	        	                                   2021                                   2020	
	                               	                           K                                          K
                                                                                Note
ASSETS
Non current assets			 
Property, plant and equipment	 10	 18,990,415	 19,305,711
Loan receivables (Staff)	 11	 958,411	 903,509
	

		  19 948 826	 20,209,220

Current assets		
Inventory					            12		                718,586	            		  581,924	
Accounts receivables	 13	 1,253,130	 476,915
	
Cash and cash equivalents	 14	 69,314,063	 17,535,294

		  71,285,779	 18,594,133
	

Total assets		  91,234,605	 38,803,353

	
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES			 
Equity		
Capital grants	 15	 17,540,414 	 17,855,711
	
Revaluation reserves		  1,766,298	 1,766,298
	
Accumulated fund		  65,604,673	 15,328,096
	

Total accumulated funds 		  84,911,385	 34,950,105

Current liabilities
Accounts payables	 16	 6,323,220	 3,853,248
	

Total liabilities		  6,323,220	 3,853,248
	

Total Equity and liabilities		  91,234,605	 38,803,353

The financial statements on pages 10 to 31 were approved by the Board on ....…………………………… and were signed 
on their behalf by: 

............................................................		              ..........................................................
Richard M. Chizyuka                                                              Idah C. Chella (Mrs)
BOARDCHAIRMAN			                              DIRECTOR GENERAL	
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

	 Accumulated	 Revaluation	 Capital	
                                                                             	 Fund	                 Reserve                   Grant	                     Total
                                                                               	                   K                              K                          K                           K

Balances as at 31 December 2020	 15,328,096	 1,766,298	 17,855,711	 34,950,105
Total comprehensive surplus for the year	 50,276,577			   50,276,577
Received during the year			   1,512,657	 1,512,657
Amortisation of grants			          (1,825,126)	        (1,825,126)
Released to income statement			               (2,828)	           (2,828)
Revaluation Surplus for 2021				  
	
Balances as at 31 December 2021	 65,604,673	 1,766,298	 17,540,414	 84,911,385
	

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

	 Accumulated	 Revaluation	 Capital	
                                                                         	   Fund	                  Reserve                  Grant	                     Total
                                                                               K                           K                    K                          K

Balances as at 31 December 2019	 6,247,481	 316,298	 19,717,409	 26,281,188
Total comprehensive surplus for the year	 9,080,615			   9,080,615
Received during the year			   261,557	 261,557
Amortisation of grants			           (1,963,465)	        (1,963,465)
Released to income statement-		             (159,790)	           (159,790)
Revaluation Surplus for 2020		  1,450,000		  1,450,000

Balances as at 31 December 2020	 15,328,096	 1,766,298	 17,855,711	 34,950,105
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
		
                                                                                                                                	              2021                           2020
	                                                                                                                                                    K                                  K	
	   Note
NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

Operating cash flows
Operating Surplus / (deficit)	                                			    47,881,708                   7,042,085
Adjustments for items not affecting cash flows:  
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment                       10	                        1,825,125                   1,963,465
	
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment		          (4,807)        	           (739,823)
 Amortisation of capital grant	                                                      15                      (1,825,126)                (1,963,465) 
	              
Release from capital grant	                                                          15                               (2,828)                   (159,790)                     
		
Net operating cash flows before reinvestment in 		
working capital		                                 47,874,072                   6,142,472
                  	
(Increase) /decrease in inventory		                                     (136,661)	                      (21,376)
	                     
(Increase) /decrease in accounts receivables		                                     (776,214)  	                   (47,722)  
 Increase / (decrease) in accounts payables		                                    2,469,971                 (4,602,196)	
		                   
Net cash flows from operations		                                     49,431,168                 1,471,178
	
Return from investments and servicing of finance
Net financing income	 9	                      2,394,869                  2,038,530
	
	                       						                		                                                                                                       
Net cash flows from operating activities		                                 51,826,037                   3,509,708		
		                               
	
NET CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment		                              7,634                      899,613	
Purchase of property, plant and equipment	 10	                    (1,512,657)                    (261,557)               
             		         
Net cash from investing activities	                                                                        (1,505,023)                    638,056                 
		                          
NET CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING 
ACTIVITIES			 
Net cash received/(issued) from loans receivable		                                       (54,902)                  1,481,859	                    
Proceeds from capital grant	 15	  1,512,657	                 261,557
	
		
Net cash flows from financing activities		                                   1,457,755                   1,743,416	
		                           

(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents		                                  51,778,769	                 5,891,180
	
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year	                                  17,535,294	                11,644,114
	  
		                                   
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year	 14	                   69,314,063	                17,535,294
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

1.	 STATUS AND ACTIVITIES

	 The principal activity of the Authority is to regulate the procurement of goods, works and services for the gov-
ernment and parastatal bodies. The Authority operates under an Act of Parliament, the Public Procurement 
Act No. 8 of 2020.

2.	 GOING CONCERN

	 The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, which assumes that the Authority 
will continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. The validity of the going concern assump-
tion is dependent upon the Authority being able to attract continued support from the Government of the 
Republic of Zambia in order to meet the Authority’s financial obligations. The Government of the Republic 
of Zambia (GRZ) is committed and willing to continue to provide the necessary financial support to the 
Authority to meet its financial obligations.

	 If the Authority were unable to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future, adjustment would 
have to be made to reduce the statement of financial position values of assets to their recoverable amounts, 
to provide for further liabilities that might arise and to reclassify assets and long-term liabilities as current 
assets and liabilities.

3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

3.1. Statement of Compliance

	 The financial statements of Zambia Public Procurement Authority have been prepared in compliance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and the requirements of the Public Procurement Act, No. 
8 of 2020. 

	 The principal accounting policies of the Authority, which are set out below, are consistently followed in all 
material respects.

3.2. Basis of Measurement

	 These financial statements were prepared under the historical cost convention, except for financial assets 
classified at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). 

	 Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and 
services. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an or-
derly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is 
directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset 
or a liability, the Authority takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants 
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. 
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these financial statements is determined on such 
a basis, except for, leasing transactions that are within the scope of IAS 17, and measurements that have 
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as value in use in IAS 36.
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In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based 
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the in-
puts to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

•	 Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity 
can access at the measurement date;

•	 Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly; and

•	 Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The financial statements are presented in Zambia Kwacha (K), which is also the Authority’s functional currency.

3.3.	Judgement and Estimates

	 The preparation of financial statements in compliance with IFRS requires Management to make certain crit-
ical accounting estimates. It also requires Management to exercise judgment in applying the Authority’s 
accounting policies. The areas involving critical judgments and estimates in applying accounting policies 
that have the most significant risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities recognized in the financial statements are:

•	 The classification of financial assets and liabilities;
•	 The residual values, the useful lives of property, plant and equipment and whether assets are impaired; 

and
	 The classification of financial assets at FVTPL, which includes assessing the business model within which 

the assets are held and whether the contractual terms of the assets are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

	 The classification of financial instruments is determined by both:

•	 the entity’s business model for managing the financial asset; and
•	 the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

	 In addition, the disclosures that Management deemed to be immaterial were excluded from the notes to the 
financial statements. The determination of the relevance and materiality of disclosures involved significant 
judgment.

3.4. Foreign Currencies

	 The financial statements of the Authority are presented in the currency of the primary economic envi-
ronment in which the entity operates (its functional currency). For the purpose of the financial state-
ments the results and financial position of the Authority are expressed in Zambian Kwacha (K) which is 
the functional currency and the presentation currency for the financial statements.



2021 Annual Report 55

Zambia Public Procurement Authority (ZPPA) 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

	 In preparing the financial statements of the Authority, transactions in currencies other than the Authori-
ty’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates 
of the transactions. At each balance sheet date monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are 
re-translated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items 
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not translated.

	 Exchange differences are recognised in the income statement in the year in which they arise.

3.5. Income

	 Grant income is recognised when there is reasonable assurance that conditions pertaining to the grants will 
be complied with and that the grants will be received. When the terms of the grants do not specify the ex-
penditure, they are intended to support, such a grant is assumed to contribute towards the expenditure that 
forms the basis of that payment.

	 Government and other grants received in cash are recognised as income in the year in which they are re-
ceived.

	 Grants for revenue expenditure are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income during the period 
in which they are received. Grants for capital expenditure and donations of non-monetary assets are credited 
to the Capital Grant account at their cash or fair values. The Capital Grant is transferred to the statement 
of comprehensive income each year on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related 
assets. 

3.6	 Other Income

	 Income from Consultancy, Training, Appeals, Supplier registration, Interest from staff debtors and sale of 
tender documents are recognised when receipt is reasonably assured. Rental income is recognised on a 
straight-line basis over the lease period. Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using the 
effective interest method.

3.7 Net Financing Income/Costs

	 Net financing income/costs comprise interest payable on borrowings calculated using the effective inter-
est rate method, bank interest receivable, foreign exchange gains and losses that are recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income. 

3.8	 Property, Plant and Equipment

	 Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at historical cost/or re-valued amounts less accumu-
lated depreciation and any impairment losses.

	 An assessment is made by the directors at each reporting date whether there is any indication that the asset 
may have been impaired. If any such indication exits, the Directors carry out a revaluation of the recoverable 
amount of the asset by independent valuators.
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Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of land and buildings are credited to revaluation reserves 
in equity. Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset are charged against other reserves directly 
in equity; all other decreases are charged to the income statement. Each year the difference between depreci-
ation based on the revalued carrying amount of the asset charged to the income statement and depreciation 
based on the asset’s original cost is transferred from ‘other reserves’ to retained earnings.

Expenditure on repairs or maintenance of property, plant and equipment made to restore or maintain future eco-
nomic benefits expected from the asset is recognised as an expense when incurred.

Depreciation

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is provided on a straight-line basis to write off the gross book val-
ue less the expected residual value of the various assets over the period of their expected useful lives as follows:

Leasehold land and building	 2%
Office furniture and equipment	          25%
Motor vehicles	 25%

3.9	Financial Instruments

	 Recognition and De-recognition

	 Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Authority becomes a party to the contractu-
al provisions of the financial instrument.

	 Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset 
expire, or when the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards are transferred.

	 A financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires. 

	 Classification and Initial Measurement of Financial Assets

	 Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component and are measured 
at the transaction price in accordance with IFRS 15, all financial assets are initially measured at fair value 
adjusted for transaction costs (where applicable).

	 Financial assets, other than those designated and effective as hedging instruments, are classified into the 
following categories:

•	 amortised cost;
•	 fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL); and
•	 fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).
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The classification is determined by both:

•	 the entity’s business model for managing the financial asset; and
•	 the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in profit or loss are presented within 
finance costs, finance income or other financial items, except for impairment of trade receivables which is pre-
sented within other expenses. 

Subsequent Measurement of Financial Assets

Financial Assets at Amortised Cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions (and are not desig-
nated as FVTPL):

•	 They are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and collect its   contrac-
tual cash flows; and

•	 The contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

This category includes non-derivative financial assets like loans and receivables with fixed or determinable pay-
ments that are not quoted in an active market. After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial. The 
Authority’s cash and cash equivalents, trade and most other receivables fall into this category of financial instru-
ments as well as listed bonds that were previously classified as held-to-maturity under IAS 39.

Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss (FVTPL)
Financial assets that are held within a different business model than ‘hold to collect’ or ‘hold to collect and sell’, 
and financial assets whose contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal and interest are account-
ed for at FVTPL. All derivative financial instruments fall into this category, except for those designated and effec-
tive as hedging instruments, for which the hedge accounting requirements apply (see below).

This category also contains equity investments. The equity investments were measured at cost less any impair-
ment charges under IAS 39, as it was deemed that its fair value could not be estimated reliably.

Assets in this category are measured at fair value with gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The fair values 
of financial assets in this category are determined by reference to active market transactions or using a valuation 
technique where no active market exists.

Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI)
The Authority accounts for financial assets at FVOCI if the assets meet the following conditions:

•	 they are held under a business model whose objective is hold to collect the associated cash flows and sell; 
and

•	 The contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Any gains or losses recognised in OCI will be recycled upon de-recognition of the asset. This category includes 
listed securities and debentures that were previously classified as ‘available-for sale’.

Impairment of Financial Assets
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IFRS 9’s new impairment requirements use more forward-looking information to recognise expected credit loss-
es – the ‘expected credit loss’ (ECL) model. This replaces IAS 39’s ‘incurred loss model’. Instruments within the 
scope of the new requirements included loans and other debt-type financial assets measured at amortised cost 
and FVOCI, trade receivables, contract assets recognised and measured under IFRS 15 and loan commitments 
and some financial guarantee contracts (for the issuer) that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Recognition of credit losses is no longer dependent on the Authority first identifying a credit loss event. Instead 
the Authority considers a broader range of information when assessing credit risk and measuring expected credit 
losses, including past events, current conditions, reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the expected 
collectability of the future cash flows of the instrument.

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is made between:

•	 financial instruments that have not deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial recognition or that 
have low credit risk (‘Stage 1’) and

•	 financial instruments that have deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial recognition and whose 
credit risk is not low (‘Stage 2’).

‘Stage 3’ would cover financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment at the reporting date. How-
ever, none of the Authority’s financial assets fall into this category. ‘12-month expected credit losses’ are rec-
ognised for the first category while ‘lifetime expected credit losses’ are recognised for the second category. 
Measurement of the expected credit losses is determined by a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses 
over the expected life of the financial instrument.

Guidance note: Credit losses are defined as the difference between all the contractual cash flows that are due to 
an entity and the cash flows that it actually expects to receive (‘cash shortfalls’). This difference is discounted at 
the original effective interest rate (or credit adjusted effective interest rate for purchased or originated credit-im-
paired financial assets).

Trade and Other Receivables and Contract Assets

The Authority makes use of a simplified approach in accounting for trade and other receivables as well as con-
tract assets and records the loss allowance as lifetime expected credit losses. These are the expected shortfalls 
in contractual cash flows, considering the potential for default at any point during the life of the financial instru-
ment. 

In calculating, the Authority uses its historical experience, external indicators and forward-looking information to 
calculate the expected credit losses using a provision matrix. 

Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income

The Authority recognises 12-month expected credit losses for financial assets at FVOCI. As most of these instru-
ments have an outstanding credit rating, the likelihood of default is deemed to be small. However, at each report-
ing date the Authority assesses whether there has been a significant increase in the credit risk of the instrument.

In assessing these risks, the Authority relies on readily available information such as the credit ratings issued 
by the major credit rating agencies for the respective asset. The Authority only holds simple financial instru-
ments for which specific credit ratings are usually available. In the unlikely event that there is no or only little 
information on factors influencing the ratings of the asset available, the Authority would aggregate similar 
instruments into a portfolio to assess on this basis whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

In addition, the Authority considers other indicators such as adverse changes in business, economic or financial 
conditions that could affect the borrower’s ability to meet its debt obligation or unexpected changes in the bor-
rower’s operating results. Should any of these indicators imply a significant increase in the instrument’s credit 
risk, the Authority recognises for this instrument or class of instruments the lifetime ECL.

Classification and Measurement of Financial Liabilities

As the accounting for financial liabilities remains largely the same under IFRS 9 compared to IAS 39, the Author-
ity’s financial liabilities were not impacted by the adoption of IFRS 9. However, for completeness, the accounting 
policy is disclosed below.
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The Authority’s financial liabilities include borrowings, trade and other payables and derivative financial instru-
ments. Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction 
costs unless the Authority designated a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss.

Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method except for 
derivatives and financial liabilities designated at FVTPL, which are carried subsequently at fair value with gains or 
losses recognised in profit or loss (other than derivative financial instruments that are designated and effective 
as hedging instruments).

Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedge Accounting

The Authority applies the new hedge accounting requirements in IFRS 9 prospectively. All hedging relationships 
that were hedging relationships under IAS 39 at the 31 December 2018 reporting date meet the IFRS 9’s criteria 
for hedge accounting at 1 January 2019 and are therefore regarded as continuing hedging relationships.
Derivative financial instruments are accounted for at FVTPL except for derivatives designated as hedging instru-
ments in cash flow hedge relationships, which require a specific accounting treatment. 

To qualify for hedge accounting, the hedging relationship must meet all of the following requirements:

•	 there is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument;
•	 the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic relationship; 

and
•	 The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of the hedged 

item that the entity actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that the entity actually uses 
to hedge that quantity of hedged item.

For the reporting periods under review, the Authority did not have any hedging investments.

All derivative financial instruments used for hedge accounting are recognised initially at fair value and reported 
subsequently at fair value in the statement of financial position.

To the extent that the hedge is effective, changes in the fair value of derivatives designated as hedging instru-
ments in cash flow hedges are recognised in other comprehensive income and included within the cash flow 
hedge reserve in equity. Any ineffectiveness in the hedge relationship is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

At the time the hedged item affects profit or loss, any gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehen-
sive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and presented as a reclassification adjustment within 
other comprehensive income. However, if a non-financial asset or liability is recognised as a result of the 
hedged transaction, the gains and losses previously recognised in other comprehensive income are included in 
the initial measurement of the hedged item.

If a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, any related gain or loss recognised in other comprehen-
sive income is transferred immediately to profit or loss. If the hedging relationship ceases to meet the effective-
ness conditions, hedge accounting is discontinued loss and the related gain or loss is held in the equity reserve 
until the forecast transaction occurs.

3.10 Inventory
	 Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined by the weighted aver-

age cost basis and includes all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing 
the inventories to their present location and condition. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in 
the ordinary course of the business less any selling expenses.

3.11	Provisions

	 Provisions are recognised when the Authority has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of 
a past event, it is probable that the Authority will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate 
can be made of the amount of the obligation.

	 The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the pres-
ent obligation at the balance sheet date taking into account the risk and uncertainties surrounding the obli-
gation.
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3.12 Employee Benefits 	

	 A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions 
into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. The Authority 
pays fixed contributions into an independent entity in relation to the State Plan. 

	 The Authority has no legal or constructive obligations to pay contributions in addition to its fixed contribu-
tions, which are recognized as an expense in the period that relevant employee services are received. 

	 The cost of gratuity and annual leave are recognized during the period in which the employee renders the 
related service. Accruals for employee entitlement to gratuity and annual leave represent the present obli-
gation, which the Authority has to pay as a result of the employee services provided to the reporting date. 

	 The Authority also has an Occupational Pension Scheme where the employee and employer make contribu-
tions at rates to be determined from time to time. 

4.	 RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES

	 The Authority’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, interest 
rate risk and fair value price risk), credit risk, liquidity and cash flow risks. The Authority’s overall risk man-
agement programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential 
adverse effects on the Authority’s financial performance. Risk management is carried out under policies 
approved by the Board.

4.1	 Market Risk

a)	 Foreign Exchange Risk
	 The Authority is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primary 

with respect to the United States Dollar. Foreign exchange risk arises from commercial transactions, 
recognised assets and liabilities in the procurement of commodities for the Central Government. 
Management has set up a policy to manage their foreign exchange risk against their functional cur-
rency. To manage their foreign risk arising from commercial transactions and recognised asset and 
liabilities, the Authority ensures that it keeps adequate funds in local currency in its bank accounts. 
Foreign exchange risk arises when commercial transactions or recognised assets or liabilities are 
denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency.

b)	  Fair Value Price Risk
	 The Authority is not exposed to fair value price risk as it does not hold publicly-traded equity or com-

modity instrument that is subject to change in base price from the date of entering into the contract and 
when the contract is liquidated or right exercised.

c)	 Interest rate risk
	 The Authority is exposed to interest rate risk as it holds variable interest earning bank deposits and 

fixed interest staff loans. The Authority’s interest-bearing assets are composed of deposits held with 
financial institutions.

4.2	 Credit Risk

	 Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Authority if a counterparty to a financial instrument default  
on its contractual obligations. The Authority is subject to credit risk through its trading and investing activi-
ties. The Authority’s primary exposure to credit risk arises through its investment securities, cash deposits, 
accounts receivables and cash equivalents. The Authority evaluates counterparties for credit worthiness 
where credit risk arises and there are no credit ratings readily available. The counterparties for investment 
securities and cash equivalents are Bank of Zambia (BOZ), commercial banks and financial institutions 
licensed by Bank of Zambia. 

	 The Authority holds collateral to cover its credit risk associated with accounts receivables in  
respect of staff loans and advances and that the credit risk is mitigated by ensuring that staff loans and  
advances deductions do not exceed 33% of the employee’s monthly net pay. 
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	 The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure 
to credit risk at the reporting date was: 

                                                              2021	                        2020	                         
                                                                                                                      

		               K                               K	

	 Staff loans	    958,411	 903,509		
	

	 Trade receivables     	 1,253,130	 476,915		
	  

   Cash and cash equivalents                                     69,314,063	 17,535,294		
	

                                                                                     		
	    71,525,604	 18,915,718		

                                                                                                  

4.3	 Liquidity and Cash Flow Risk

	 Prudent liquidity management implies maintaining sufficient cash, and the availability of funding through 
an adequate amount of committed credit facilities. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, 
management maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining availability under committed credit lines.

	 Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Authority’s liquidity reserve and cash and cash equivalents on 
the basis of expected cash flow. In addition, the Authority’s liquidity management policy involves projecting 
cash flows in major currencies and considering the level of liquid assets necessary to meet liabilities.

	 The table below analyses the Authority’s financial assets and liabilities into relevant maturity groupings 
based on the remaining period at the balance sheet to the contractual maturity date. The amounts 
disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal 
their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.
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CASHFLOW PROJECTIONS – MATURITY GROUPINGS

	   
On Demand Due within Due After Total

K K K K
Financial assets as at 31 December 2021
Loan receivables 976,073 958,411 1,934,484
Accounts receivables  1,253,130  1,253,130
Cash and cash equivalents  69,314,063  69,314,063

 69,314,063 2,229,203 958,411 72,501,677

Financial liabilities as 31 December 2021
Accounts receivables 6,323,220 6,323,220

Liquidity gap  69,314,063  (4,094,017)    958,411  66,178,457

Financial assets as at 31 December 2020

Loan receivables 903,509 903,509

Accounts receivables 476,915 476,915

Cash and cash equivalents  17,535,294 17,535,294

17,535,294 476,915 903,509  18,915,718

Accounts payables 3,853,248 3,853,248

Liquidity Gap 17,535,294 (3,376,333)  903,509 15,062,470

5.	 NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are mandatory for the year ended 31 
December 2021, and have been adopted by the Authority where relevant to the Authority’s operations.

5.1	New Relevant Standards Not Yet Effective

There are no New Standards and Interpretations that are issued but not yet effective that will have a material 
effect on the Authority’s operations and financial statements.
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6.	 INCOME			 

6.1 Income Sources
      Income mainly represents grants received from the Government of the Republic of Zambia, sales of tender 

documents, rental income and other income as follows:
				  
		                       	 2021	 2020
		                                                                                                                             K                                 K
6.2	Analysis 

Government grant (Note 6.3 and Note 17)	 56,238,377	   47,716,672
e-GP Grants	 36,150,000	
World Bank	 4,341,666		
Supplier registration fees	 2,712,737	 1,501,300	
Consultant and capacity building fees	 247,800	 190,200	
Appeals by suppliers’ fees	 16,000	 18,900	
Property rentals	 42,336	 28,350
Gain on disposal of fixed Assets	 4,807	 739,823	
Donations Income	 575,498	 164,990	

								        100,329,221	          50,360,235		

6.3	Government Grant		

	 Direct grant – Ministry of Finance and National 
       Planning (MOFNP)	 55,923,080	 45,854,974
	 Transfer to capital grant	 (Note 15)                                                  (1,512,657)                   (261,557) 
              	                 
	 Amortisation for the year (Note 15)	 1,825,126                	 1,963,465                
	 Released to income statement during the year (Note 15)	 2,828	 159,790	

		  56,238,377	 47,716,672	
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7	 ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES                                                 	                   2021                          2020
	                                                                                                                                K                                 K                
7.1	Analysis

	 Exhibitions	 12,500	
	 Auditors’ remuneration	 50,000		
	 Accounting/software maintenance charges	 3,000,987	  405,861	
	 Advertising and publications	 121,646	 151,626	
	 Bank charges	 119,529	 80,104		
	 Board expenses	 214,500	 311,680	
	 Depreciation (Note 10.2)	 1,825,126	 1,963,465	
	 Electricity and water	 218,833	 248,956
	 Write Off-Bad Debts	 67,573	
	 Legal and professional fees	 11,854	 173,472	
	 Labour Day expenses	 11,475	 8,228
		
	 Motor vehicle expenses	 720,077		  465,511	
	 Postage, fax and telephones	 129,314	 143,555	
	 Insurance	 300,614	 222,314	
	 Internet	 848,240	 607,674	
       Printing and stationery					            790,359		  535,376	
	 Office rates	 60,681		
	 Repairs and maintenance			  323,941	 442,489	
	 Staff emoluments and allowances (Note 7.2)	 39,410,178	 34,939,371	
	 Other Allowances	 2,632,715	 1,282,540
		
	 Subscription and donations		  2,500	
	 Training expenses	 698,875	 559,852	
	 Travelling expense	 700	 1,000

		  51,569,717	 42,545,574

	
7.2	Staff Emoluments and Allowances		

	 Basic salaries	    24,118,117	 22,339,195	
	 Allowances	 9,473,220	 7,613,840	
	 Leave pay	 3,230,102	 2,865,492	
	 NAPSA – Employer contribution	 882,203	 863,782	
	 Pension	 1,465,766	 1,108,348
	 NHIMA – Employer Contribution	 240,770	 148,714

		  39,410,178	 34,939,371	

7.3	The average number of employees during the year was 71 (2020: 69).
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8.	 OTHER OPERATING COSTS	 2021	 2020	
	                                                                                                              	               K                                     K

	 Entertainment expenses	 18,017	 5,835	
	 General office expenses	 859,779	 766,740.69

		  877,796	 772,576

                                                                                                                             	 2021                              2020
	                                                                                                           	                  K                                     K	   	
	
9.	 NET FINANCING INCOME/(COSTS)		

Foreign exchange (loss)/gain	                                                            (254)                     	  (2,623)              	
Interest received from investments	 2,290,057	 1,937,513	  
Interest received from staff loans	 105,066	 103,640	

	 2,394,869	 2,038,530	
	
			 

10.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
					  
					    Leasehold Land	 Furniture	 Motor
					    and Buildings	    and fittings	 vehicles                 	 Total
				                                                                  K                           K                              K                              K 
      	                                                    
10.1	    Cost/valuation				  
		  At 31 December 2020	 19,567,707	 6,091,697	 3,484,263	 29,143,667	

	
             Additions		      1,512,657	     1,512,657
	   Revaluation				  
		  Disposals		              (8,483)	                                                    (8,483)	
			 
		  At 31 December 2021	 19,567,707	 7,597,871	 3,484,263	 30,647,841

	
10.2		  Depreciation				  
			   At 31 December 2020	 1,857,951	 5,102,207	 2,877,800	 9,837,958	

	
	       Charge for the year	 391,354	 862,411	 571,360	 1,825,126
			   Disposals		             (5,655)	         	           (5,655)
			   Impairment				  
	
			   At 31 December 2021	 2,249,305	 5,958,961	 3,449,160	 11,657,426

	
10.3		  Net book amount				  
			   At 31 December 2021	 17,318,402	 1,636,909		  35,103	 18,990,415
	
	
			   At 31 December 2020	 17,709,757	 989,491	 606,463	 19,305,711
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10.4	 The Authority’s land and buildings (189A Ibex Hill Property) was revalued in March 2020 by Government 
valuers on the basis of an open market value. The surplus was credited to revaluation reserves. In the 
opinion of the directors of the Authority, the fair value of leasehold land and building has not changed from 
valuation date.

	
		
			   2021	 2020
		                                                                                                                         K                                     K                                                
11.	 LOANS RECEIVABLES
			 
	 Staff loan		  958,411	 903,509	                                                                                           

		             	
12.	 INVENTORY			 

	 Stationery, safety clothing and consumables	 718,586	 581,924	

 

13. 	 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES			 
	
13.1	 Analysis 			 

	 Staff advances 	 (Note 13.2)	 911,073	 113,511	
	 Other receivables					         342,057		  363,404	

			   1,253,130	 476 915	

	
13.2	 Staff Advances			 

	 Gross amount		  976,073	 178,511	
	 Less: Provision for expected credit losses		                                 (65,000)                         (65,000) 

			   911,073	 113 511	

14.	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS			 

14.1	 Analysis	

	 Cash and bank balances (Note 14.3)		  21,959,065	 4,250,943	
	 Short-term deposits (Note 14.2)		  47,354,998	 13,284,351	

			   69,314,063	 17,535,294	
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		                                                                                                                   2021	                             2020
		                                                                                                                         K                                      K
			 
14.2	 Short Term Fixed Deposits			 

	 Micro Finance Zambia Ltd		  10,800,468	 12,098,698	
	 Standard Chartered Bank		  30,000,000		
	 Zambia National Commercial Bank		  1,915,790	 1,185,653
	 Zambia Industrial and Commercial Bank		  4,638,740	

			   47,354,998	 13,284,351	

14.3	 Cash and Bank Balances

	 Zambia National Commercial Bank (Loan Revolving Fund)	 474,517	 55,704
	 Zambia National Commercial Bank (Tender Sales)	 3,544,950	 2,717,069
	 Standard Chartered Bank		  16,858,513	 1,323,148	
	 ABSA		  340,945	 152,395
		
	 Petty cash 		  3,983	 2,628
	 ZANACO Dollar		  736,157
	
			   21,959,065	 4,250,943	

	
15.	 CAPITAL GRANT			 

	 Opening balance		   17,855,711	 19,717,409	
	 Additions during the year		  1,512,657	               261,557   
	 Amortisation for the year (Note 10)		                           (1,825,126)                   (1,963,465)		
	 Released to income statement		                                  (2,828)                       (159,790)
   
			   17,540,414	 17,855,711	

Capital grants are made up of assets which are donated to the Authority or procured using the grants from the 
Ministry of Finance and National Planning and co-operating partners. The opening balance is brought forward 
from balances as at the close of the previous financial reporting period. Amortisation is charged over the useful 
life of the asset which is recognized as a reduction on the capital grant. The additions in a financial reporting 
period are added to the opening balance of the capital. The release to the income statement is the net of cost 
and amortized amount on the disposed asset. This is also a reduction on the capital grant balance for a financial 
reporting period. 
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		                                                                                                                   2021                              2020                                         
                                                                                                                                   K                                     K                    

16.	 ACCOUNTS PAYABLES			 
	
	 Trade payables		  1,114,262	 334,022	
	 Accruals		  4,028,544	 2,315,639	
	 PAYE 		  (11,928)	 714,545
	 Other payables		  1,192,342	 489,042	

			   6,323,220	 3,853,248	

17.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS			 
	

	The Zambia Public Procurement Authority is a regulatory body which was created by an Act of Parliament. 
During the year the following transactions occurred: -

Grants from the Government of Republic of Zambia

	 Direct grant – MOF	   55,923,080	 45,854,974	
	 Transfer to capital	 grant                                                             (1,512,657)                      (261,557) 
                  	
	 Amortisation for the year	    1,825,126	                      1,963,465 
	 Released to income statement	 2,828	            159,790	

		  56,238,377	 47,716,672	

Director’s Remuneration			 

Authority allowances – Board/Committees		  214,500	 294,500	
*Authority allowances – Technical                  	 18,000	 17,180	

		  232,500	 311,680	

* Being allowances paid to members external experts attending to the Authority’s business.

18.	 TAXATION	

	 The Authority is exempt from taxation under the Income Tax Act Section 5 (i) of Part III Second Schedule 
of Chapter 323 of the Laws of Zambia.

19.	 CAPITAL DISCLOSURE			 

	 The Authority is financed mainly through government grants. It neither has debt nor subordinated instru-
ments. The Authority’s objective in managing capital is:

•	 to meet its objectives as set in the Public Procurement Act No.8 of 2020; and
•	 to meet obligations as and when they fall due.

	
20.	 COMMITMENTS

	 There were no capital commitments as at 31 December 2021. (2020: 0).
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21.	 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
	
	 There were no contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2021. (2020: 0)

22.	 COMPARATIVE FIGURES

	 Comparative figures are restated where necessary to afford a reasonable comparison. 

23.	 EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION DATE

	 There has not arisen since the end of the financial year any item, transaction or event of a material and 
unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the Directors, to affect substantially the operations of the Authority, 
the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Authority in subsequent financial years.
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